
 

 

Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1PX 

Tel: 01285 623000 www.cotswold.gov.uk 
 

 

 

28 November 2025 

 

Tel: 01285 623226 

e-mail: democratic@cotswold.gov.uk 

 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
A meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee will be held in the Council Chamber - 

Council Offices, Trinity Road, Cirencester, GL7 1PX on Wednesday, 10 December 2025 at 

2.00 pm. 

 

 
 

Jane Portman 

Interim Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Planning and Licensing Committee 

(Councillors Dilys Neill, Ian Watson, Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick Coleman, Daryl  

Corps, David Fowles, Julia Judd, Andrew Maclean, Michael Vann and Tristan Wilkinson) 

 
Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, 

and Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-

recording.  Photography is also permitted. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Committee Administrator know prior to the date of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  

To receive any apologies for absence. The quorum for the Planning and Licensing 

Committee is 3 members. 

 

2.   Substitute Members  

To note details of any substitution arrangements in place for the meeting. 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

4.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 12 November 

2025. 

 

5.   Chair's Announcements  

To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Planning and Licensing 

Committee. 

 

6.   Public questions  

A maximum of 15 minutes is allocated for an “open forum” of public questions at 

committee meetings. No person may ask more than two questions (including 

supplementary questions) and no more than two such questions may be asked on 

behalf of one organisation. The maximum length of oral questions or 

supplementary questions by the public will be one minute. Questions must relate 

to the responsibilities of the Committee but questions in this section cannot relate 

to applications for determination at the meeting. 

 

The response may take the form of: 

a) A direct oral response (maximum length: 2 minutes); 

b) Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 

 

7.   Member questions  

A maximum period of fifteen minutes is allowed for Member questions. Questions 

must be directed to the Chair and must relate to the remit of the Committee but 

may not relate to applications for determination at the meeting.  

 

Page 2



 

Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received but the Chair 

may group together similar questions.  

 

The deadline for submitting questions is 5.00pm on the working day before the 

day of the meeting unless the Chair agrees that the question relates to an urgent 

matter, in which case the deadline is 9.30am on the day of the meeting.  

 

A member may submit no more than two questions. At the meeting the member 

may ask a supplementary question arising directly from the original question or 

the reply. The maximum length of a supplementary question is one minute.  

 

The response to a question or supplementary question may take the form of: 

a) A direct oral response (maximum length: 2 minutes); 

b) Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

c) Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 

 

Schedule of Applications  

 

 

To consider and determine the applications contained within the enclosed schedule: 

8.   25/02175/FUL - Thyme - Southrop Estate Office (Pages 13 - 84) 

Proposal 

Erection of 3 new structures and associated landscaping to provide additional spa 

facilities and hotel accommodation at Thyme. 

  

Case Officer 

Amy Hill 

 

Ward Member 

Councillor David Fowles 

 

Recommendation 

PERMIT 
 

9.   25/02722/LBC - Thyme - Southrop Estate Office (Pages 85 - 94) 

Purpose 

Erection of glazed extension to curtilage listed building at Thyme. 

 

Case Officer 

Amy Hill 

 

Ward Member 

Councillor David Fowles 

Page 3



 

 

Recommendation 

PERMIT 
 

10.   25/01951/FUL - Talland School of Equitation (Pages 95 - 116) 

Purpose 

Construction of an outdoor riding arena. 

 

Case Officer 

Ceri Porter 

 

Ward Member 

Councillor Lisa Spivey 

 

Recommendation 

 

PERMIT subject to completion of a S106 legal agreement covering Biodiversity 

Net Gain 

 

11.   Sites Inspection Briefing  

Members for 7 January 2026 (if required)  

 

Councillors Dilys Neill, Ray Brassington, Tristan Wilkinson, Patrick Coleman 

 

12.   Licensing Sub-Committee  

Members for 29 January 2026 (if required)  

 

Councillors Dilys Neill, David Fowles, Ray Brassington. 

 

 

(END) 

Page 4



 

 
Planning and Licensing Committee 

12/November2025 
 

 

 

 

Minutes of a meeting of Planning and Licensing Committee held on Wednesday, 

12 November 2025 

 

Members present: 

 

Dilys Neill (Chair) Julia Judd   

Ray Brassington 

Nick Bridges 

 

David Fowles 

Michael Vann 

 

 

Clare Turner 

Patrick Coleman 

Officers present: 

Marie Barnes, Lawyer 

Harrison Bowley, Head of Planning Services 

Andrew Moody, Senior Planning Officer 

Tyler Jardine, Trainee Democratic Services 

Officer 

Eleanor Ward, Senior Conversation Officer 

Julia Gibson, Democratic Services Officer 

Kira Thompson, Election and Democratic 

Services Support Assistant 

 

 

 

202 Apologies  

 

There were apologies for absence from Councillors Ian Watson, Andrew Maclean, Daryl 

Corps and Tristan Wilkinson. 

 

203 Substitute Members  

 

Councillor Clare Turner substituted for Councillor Andrew Maclean.  Councillor Julia 

Judd assisted the Chair in the absence of the Vice-Chair. 

 

204 Declarations of Interest  

 

There were no interests declared. 

 

205 Minutes  

 

The minutes of the meeting on 8 October 2025 were discussed.  Councillor Fowles 

proposed accepting the minutes and Councillor Brassington seconded the proposal 

which was put to the vote and agreed by the Committee. 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Planning and Licensing Committee 

12/November2025 

 

 

Minutes of meeting held on 8 October 2025 - APPROVE (Resolution) 

For Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, Patrick Coleman, David Fowles, Julia 

Judd, Dilys Neill and Michael Vann 

7 

Against None 0 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain Clare Turner 1 

Carried 

 

 

206 Chair's Announcements  

 

Members were informed that the annual planners’ Christmas lunch will be arranged for 

January. 

 

207 Public questions  

 

There were no public questions. 

 

208 Member questions  

 

There were no Member questions.  A question from Councillor Maclean was deferred. 

 

209 25/02458/FUL - Brook Close, Rodmarton  

 

The proposal was for the demolition of existing dwellings and outbuildings and the 

replacement with a self-build dwelling. 

 

Case Officer: Andrew Moody 

Ward Member: Mike McKeown 

Officer recommendation: REFUSE 

 

The Chair invited the Case Officer to introduce the application who made the following 

points: 

 Various plans were shared, including block and site plans, aerial photographs, 

existing and proposed elevations showing the proposed dwelling’s ridge height, 

proposed floor plans and street view, photographs of building and 

neighbouring ‘arts’ buildings. 

 

Public Speakers: 

Speaker 1 – Supporter 

Candida Feversham stated that the suggestion of any ‘group value’ with the seven 

historic Little Tarlton cottages was incorrect, as those cottages formed a distinct and 

Page 6



Planning and Licensing Committee 

12/November2025 

 

cohesive group and Brook Close was entirely separate in both style and setting. They 

noted the need for the village to attract younger families and believed this project 

supported that aim.  

 

Speaker 2 – Applicant 

Emily Olsen explained that the existing, heavily altered house was neither listed nor 

suitable as a modern family home. They argued that the proposed replacement would 

not harm the conservation area or nearby listed cottages. The new design used 

Cotswold stone and traditional vernacular forms, alongside a landscape scheme that 

enhanced biodiversity. They emphasised the high sustainability standards and reported 

no objections or letters of support. 

 

Speaker 3 – Ward Member 

Councillor Mike McKeown’s words were read by Democratic Services.  

The Ward Member explained that the application was referred to Committee because it 

represented a balanced case requiring open consideration. They noted that whilst 

officers recommend refusal on heritage grounds, the existing dwelling had been 

heavily altered and its heritage value was limited. The proposed replacement was high-

quality, used local materials, improved landscaping and biodiversity, and would deliver 

significant sustainability benefits. 

 

SIB Feedback.  

Committee Members who attended the Site Inspection Briefing made the following 

observations: 

 There was an unusually large garden-to-property ratio and the outbuilding was 

an authentic example of Arts and Crafts design. 

 Whilst the property was a unique and attractive asset and staged development 

could enhance the value of an older building, there were a significant number of 

issues to be addressed. 

 The front façade of the property was attractive, but the rear was less so. The tall 

garage would be visible to neighbouring properties. 

 Previous alterations, including the sympathetically raised roof, were acceptable, 

whereas the 1970s extension was considered less attractive. 

 The property had traditionally been a smaller, more modest house within the 

village. 

 

Member questions 

Members asked questions of the officers, who responded in the following way: 

 The existing house had a ridge height of 6.8m, while the proposed dwelling’s 

ridge height was 9.395m, an increase of 2.595m. The reference to 10.865 m was 

the maximum height of the proposed chimney. 

 The existing ground floor area was 77.1m2 whilst the proposed area was 

approximately 243m2 

Page 7



Planning and Licensing Committee 

12/November2025 

 

 The site included a non-designated heritage asset of low significance, alongside 

designated heritage assets, namely the conservation area and listed buildings, 

which carried greater weight. Under paragraph 216 of the NPPF, the harm to a 

non-designated asset should be balanced against its significance, considering 

design quality and climate mitigation. The non-designated asset was assessed as 

low to moderate significance. 

 Officers raised concerns about the loss of the non-designated heritage asset and 

the proposed dwelling’s design, scale, and position. No issues were noted 

regarding the garage and neighbouring property, as a hedgerow and tree 

planting were planned. Permitted development rights would be removed to 

prevent new openings on the outbuilding’s rear elevation. 

 The Conservation Officer highlighted that the key harmful elements of the 

proposal related to the site context, scale, and massing of the new building, 

including the proposed garage which would exceed six metres in height, rather 

than the architectural design itself. 

 The Conservation Officer explained that introducing a modern, contemporary 

structure of this size in the historic context could increase perceived harm. The 

site sat between two designated heritage assets, the conservation area and the 

Little Tarlton listed buildings and the spatial separation and treatment of this 

area was important. The relatively small scale of the surrounding buildings 

meant that the proposal’s overall size and massing, rather than its design, were 

the primary issues. 

 Members made the point that the proposed garage was almost the same size as 

the existing house that was to be demolished. Officers concluded that they did 

not have concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on the amenity of 

neighbouring properties. 

 The proposed property would be large compared to most other residential 

properties nearby. 

 Members asked whether it would be possible to refuse the proposed garage 

while approving the rest of the development. Officers confirmed that a split 

decision was technically possible but extremely challenging. It would require 

very precise planning conditions, clearly defined approved plans, and potentially 

a revised description of development.  

 

Member Comments 

In discussing the application, Members made the following comments: 

 The existing cottage could be replaced to gain the sustainability benefits of a 

new dwelling, but the proposed house was considered too large for its location, 

with a significant impact on the site and surroundings. 

 The hierarchy of the site and heritage asset had been considered, reflecting a 

finely balanced assessment of the setting. 

 Concerns were raised about the garage, with its scale, increased height, and 

floor space considered too large; the proposed building did not comply with the 

Cotswold Design Code. 

Page 8



Planning and Licensing Committee 

12/November2025 

 

 Rodmarton comprised of simple, modest buildings, and that the open gaps 

between them were important to maintain the village’s rural character. 

 There was support for a house on the site with modern facilities, but concerns 

were raised that the proposed size and scale were disproportionate to the 

village hierarchy. 

 

Councillor Fowles proposed refusing the application and Councillor Brassington 

seconded the proposal. The proposal was put to the vote and agreed by the 

Committee. 

 

RESOLVED: to REFUSE the application. 

25/02458/FUL - Brook Close, Rodmarton - REFUSE (Resolution) 

For Ray Brassington, Nick Bridges, David Fowles, Julia Judd, Dilys Neill, 

Clare Turner and Michael Vann 

7 

Against Patrick Coleman 1 

Conflict Of 

Interests 

None 0 

Abstain None 0 

Carried 

 

 

210 Sites Inspection Briefing  

 

The Chair advised members to keep 3 December 2025 free for a possible Site 

Inspection Briefing. 

 

Councillors Dilys Neill, Ian Watson, Nick Bridges, Daryl Corps, Michael Vann. 

 

211 Licensing Sub-Committee  

 

There was no licensing sub-committee planned. 

 

 

The Meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and closed at 3.21 pm 

 

 

Chair 

 

(END) 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE  

10 December 2025 

 

 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION AND DECISION (HP) 

 

• Members are asked to determine the applications in this Schedule. My 

recommendations are given at the end of each report.  Members should get in touch 

with the case officer if they wish to have any further information on any applications. 

 

• Applications have been considered in the light of national planning policy guidance, the 

Development Plan and any relevant non-statutory supplementary planning guidance. 

 

• The following legislation is of particular importance in the consideration and determination of 

the applications contained in this Schedule: 

 

 - Planning Permission:  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

requires that “where in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be 

had to the development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan 

unless material consideration indicates otherwise. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 - special regard to the desirability of 

preserving the (listed) building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 

historic interest. 

 

 - Listed Building Consent: Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 - special regard to the desirability of preserving the (listed) building or its 

setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest. 

 

 - Display of Advertisements:  Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) 

(England) Regulations 2007 - powers to be exercised only in the interests of amenity, 

including any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or similar interest and public safety. 

 

• The reference to Key Policy Background in the reports is intended only to highlight the 

policies most relevant to each case.  Other policies, or other material circumstances, may also 

apply and could lead to a different decision being made to that recommended by the Officer. 

 

• Any responses to consultations received after this report had been printed, will be reported at 

the meeting, either in the form of lists of Additional Representations, or orally.  Late 

information might result in a change in my recommendation. 

 

• The Background Papers referred to in compiling these reports are: the application form; the 

accompanying certificates and plans and any other information provided by the 

applicant/agent; responses from bodies or persons consulted on the application; other 

representations supporting or objecting to the application. 

Page 11

Agenda Annex



 

 i 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 10 December 2025 

INDEX TO APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION AND DECISION 

 

 

Parish 

 

Application 

 

 

Schedule  

Order No. 

 

   

Southrop Thyme - Southrop Estate Office  

Southrop Estate  

Southrop  

Lechlade 

Gloucestershire 

GL7 3PW 

25/02175/FUL   

Full Application 

 

1 

 

Southrop Thyme - Southrop Estate Office  

Southrop Estate  

Southrop  

Lechlade 

Gloucestershire 

GL7 3PW 

25/02722/LBC 

Listed Building Consent 

 

2 

 

Ampney Crucis Talland School of Equitation 

Ampney Knowle 

Barnsley 

Cirencester 

Gloucestershire 

GL7 5FD 

25/01951/FUL   

Full Application 

 

3 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



Erection of 3 new structures and associated landscaping to provide additional 

spa facilities and hotel accommodation at Thyme - Southrop Estate Office 

Southrop Estate Southrop Lechlade Gloucestershire GL7 3PW  

 

Full Application 

25/02175/FUL 

Applicant: Southrop Estates Ltd 

Agent: Taw Fitzwilliam Architects 

Case Officer: Amy Hill 

Ward Member(s): Councillor David Fowles   

Committee Date: 10 December 2025 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 

PERMIT 

 

1. Main Issues: 

 

(a)  Principle of Accommodation and Wellness Facilities 

(b)  Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 

(c)  Impact on Cotswolds National Landscape 

(d)  Impact on Residential Amenity 

(e)  Highways Safety  

(f)  Trees  

(g)  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

(h)  Flooding 

 

2. Reasons for Referral: 

 

2.1 Cllr Fowles requested that the application be considered by the Review Panel 

 for referral to the Planning & Licensing Committee, for the following reason(s): 

 

2.1.1 This site has a long history of applications from when it first started 

trading as a cookery school and in addition to developing the current business, 

the pub has been bought and a number of other residential properties have 

also been acquired. The business has very little engagement with the village 

either by virtue of generating local employment or providing locals with a 

leisure amenity. Indeed the applicant has stated that the key reason for wanting 

to develop the spa is so Thyme can compete at the very top of the leisure and 

hotel sector 

 

2.1.2 There is real concern that historic applications that were granted consent 

have not had the conditions properly complied with ie 19/04203/FUL and 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



17/01018/FUL. I believe that the enforcement team need to look into these two 

applications 

 

2.1.3 In particular there is a real highway safety issue in Southrop as a result 

of the opening of the overflow car park which is now the only operational car 

park. The impact on the village is not anecdotal but can be measured via the 

recently introduced speed cameras  

 

2.1.4 The proposed development will have a dramatic effect on the 

conservation area and the surrounding listed buildings. It will be visible from 

the road and footpaths.  

 

2.1.5 There is concern about noise and light pollution, in particular the plant 

room which is located right on the boundary of a neighbour's property. In 

addition three more bedrooms are proposed very close to a neighbouring 

property. This is not a business which shuts at 5.30pm. It operates 24/7.  

 

2.1.6 Finally, whilst everyone understands that this application should be 

judged on its merits, it is not unreasonable to assume that further applications 

will be made 

 

2.2 The Review panel agreed the request for the application to be considered at 

 the Planning and Licensing Committee, as it was necessary to consider and 

 balance the potential harm to the Conservation Area and surrounding listed 

 buildings, and the potential amenity impacts upon the neighbouring residents, 

 as required by local and national policy. 

 

3. Site Description: 

 

3.1 The wider site comprises Thyme, a collection of converted and extended 

 agricultural buildings which form a hotel, spa and restaurant. The site is located 

 within the village of Southrop, with access to Thyme via a road which also serves 

 Southrop Manor and St Peters Church. It has a second main entrance with 

 parking area to the south east of the village.  

 

3.2 The converted agricultural buildings are Grade II listed and lie adjacent to the 

 Grade I listed St Peters Church, with Southrop Manor, a Grade II* listed building 

 beyond.  

 

3.3 To the west of the aforementioned buildings, Thyme has incorporated other 

 buildings, mostly used as accommodation. To the northeast of this is Southrop 

 Lodge, a grade II listed building (listed as The Lodge), also run by Thyme.   

Page 14



3.4 The site which is subject to this application comprises land to the south of Stable 

 Cottage (curtilage listed) and the area of land to the western side of it. There is 

 an outdoor swimming pool and associated outbuilding to the north. To the west 

 of the site, outside the boundaries of Thyme is another Grade II listed barn 

 (currently known as The Dovecote) and the Grade II listed Newmans House.  

 

3.5 A Public Right of Way (Southrop Footpath 7) bisects Thyme through its 

 courtyard, separating the main historic barns from the application site. This 

 continues to the south of the site through open fields. Additionally, Southrop 

 Footpaths 8 and 9 run through the field to the south of the application site.   

 The site is located within the Southrop Conservation Area and Cotswolds 

 National Landscape.  

 

4.  Relevant Planning History: 

 

4.1 There is extensive planning history on the wider site.  

 

4.2 The main applications relating to the conversion of the farm buildings include: 

 

4.3 15/04754/FUL - Change of use of the Granary, Ox Barn, Lambing Sheds and 

 Pigsties, Haybarn and associated land from part agricultural, equestrian, D1, D2, 

 and B1 use classes to a composite use comprising A3 (food and drink), C1 

 (hotel), D1 (treatment and wellbeing/lectures/courses) and D2 (social events) 

 use classes. Replacement of former barns to provide guest bedrooms. 

 Construction of treatment and wellbeing buildings and the change of use of 

 equestrian riding arena and other land, part to include overflow car parking, 

 associated landscaping and all other associated works - Permitted - 17.06.2016 

 

4.4 17/01013/FUL - Restoration, repair and reuse of existing buildings, including 

 works to the Granary, Ox Barn, Lambing Sheds and Pigsties, the conversion of 

 the Hay Barn to form ancillary kitchen and staff areas, the rebuilding of former 

 barns as guest bedrooms, the change of use of an equestrian riding arena and 

 other land, part to include overflow car parking, the planting of an orchard, 

 landscaping and all other associated works; including the change of use from 

 part agricultural, equestrian, D1, D2, and B1 use classes to a composite use 

 comprising A3, C1, D1 and D2 use classes (Amended Application) - Permitted - 

 04.05.2017 

 

 Southrop Lodge: 

 

4.5 16/04027/FUL - Change of use from residential (C3 use) to a mixed 

 residential/hotel (C3/C1 use) together with associated minor works and change 

Page 15



 of use and conversion of the Hay Barn to ancillary hotel areas (reception and 

 ancillary offices - C1 use) - Permitted - 25.11.2016 

 

4.6 17/01018/FUL - Change of use of Southrop Lodge from residential (C3 use) to 

 a mixed residential/hotel (C3/C1 use) together with associated minor works and 

 structures [Amended Scheme] - Permitted - 04.05.2017 

 

4.7 It is noted that the site is located within the red line boundary on the site 

 location plan for the above application.  

 

5.  Planning Policies: 

 

• TNPPF  The National Planning Policy Framework 

• EN1  Built, Natural & Historic Environment 

• EN2  Design of Built & Natural Environment 

• EN4  The Wider Natural & Historic Landscape 

• EN5  Cotswolds AONB 

• EN7  Trees, Hedgerows & Woodlands 

• EN8  Bio & Geo: Features Habitats & Species 

• EN9  Bio & Geo: Designated Sites 

• EN10  HE: Designated Heritage Assets 

• EN11  HE: DHA - Conservation Areas 

• EN14  Managing Flood Risk 

• EN15  Pollution & Contaminated Land 

• EC3  All types of Employment-generating Uses 

• EC11  Tourist Accommodation 

• INF3  Sustainable Transport 

• INF4  Highway Safety 

• INF5  Parking Provision 

 

6.  Observations of Consultees: 

 

6.1 Conservation Officer: 

 

8th August 2025: Revisions and Listed Building Consent required 

2nd September 2025: No objections 

21st November 2025: No objections 

 

6.2 Biodiversity Officer: No objections 

 

6.3 Flood Risk Management Officer: Additional information or pre-

 commencement condition sought 

 

Page 16



6.4 Environmental Health: Conditions requested 

 

6.5 Tree Officer: No objection subject to conditions 

 

6.6 Gloucestershire Country Council Highways: No objection 

 

6.7 Historic England: No objections 

 

6.8 Ministry of Defence: No objections 

 

7.  View of Town/Parish Council: 

 

7.1 14th August 2025:  

 

"We note some villagers and the Senior Conservation & Design Officer have 

posted their concerns/comments. We believe quite a number of the comments 

raised have merit. 

 

7.1.1 The development will be highly visible from many parts of the existing 

conservation area, including road, pub, footpaths and listed buildings. This will 

have a substantial and permanent impact on the village context. Lighting during 

hours of darkness will make these stand out all the more. 

 

7.1.2.  Neighbours note the land on which the development is proposed is 

rather higher than their own, making them loom even larger than expected, 

harder to obscure and impinging privacy. There are also windows overlooking 

adjoining properties some of which are in close proximity to neighbours. 

 

7.1.3 There is a plant room (to service the leisure facility's saunas, hot pools 

etc.) proposed close to a party wall, offering the possibility of continuous noise 

in an otherwise peaceful setting. 

 

7.1.4 The development proposes 3 bedrooms, with the possibility of 24/7 

noise and light pollution; ie this isn't just a daytime facility. 

 

7.1.5 This development is on land that hitherto has not been developed, and 

there is reasonable concern that more of the adjacent land will be developed in 

the future unless a constraint is placed on the current development proposal. 

We suspect that many of these matters ought to have been dealt with within a 

Heritage Statement which seems to be absent. 

Page 17



7.1.6 The applicants have, in the past, successfully renovated two large barns 

and other buildings in the Thyme complex to a very high standard. We hope 

that the applicants can take stock of the concerns raised and mitigate them"  

 

7.2 16th September 2025:  

 

 "We see that nothing material has changed in the revision, i.e some minor 

 tweaks. Accordingly we repeat an objection. 

 

7.2.1 We note that an unprecedented number of villagers, many longstanding 

residents, have offered their carefully considered comments. Strikingly c30% of 

the households who live here have objected [ie net of Airbnb & Thyme letting]. 

Their comments are not frivolous but sufficiently serious for the applicants to 

read them rather than rely on their agent's interpretation. We hope the 

applicant will take stock of these concerns and find arrangements to mitigate 

them. 

 

7.2.2 In their totality the villagers seem to suggest this application as reaching 

an "over development", if not there already. 

 

7.2.3 Many villagers have raised the matter of road safety. We urge Highways 

to review the current traffic situation - volume, speed and safety. Southrop's 

approach roads are typically single carriageway. Our internal roads are narrow, 

have blind driveways, only a few footpaths, unlit at night, with many sharp 

corners. The latest planning may prove a step too far.  

 

7.2.4 We draw your attention to prior planning consents that contribute to 

this. Application 19/04203/FUL; Thyme added an overflow car park to the south 

of the village, a one mile detour from their then main car park, pressing all 

Thyme traffic through the entire village (clients, suppliers, service vehicles etc) 

day and night. The original main car park, within the village to the East, was 

supposed to remain open, and an undertaking to keep it open was registered 

by their then agent. However, it has been closed since the overflow parking was 

commissioned. The over flow parking is now the only parking. This council 

informed the CDC's planner with a letter (20.10.20) including a statement from 

the school relating to safety.  

 

7.2.5 In an even earlier application 17/01018/FUL for change of use for 

Southrop Lodge (bought to expand Thyme) from C3 to C1/C3 mixed, 

restrictions were attached to the consent, limiting use of the Lodge gates (onto 

the main road) to emergency vehicles only. It is known that this is not being 

complied with, as exhibited by the recent objection comments from Mr H 

Page 18



Lauder and Mr A Howarth. Both live opposite, so can accurately opine. They 

note these gates are being regularly used for vehicular access, even though this 

another example of a blind driveway onto the main road. Given these gates are 

less than 100m from the proposed development the fear is that these gates will 

used even more. 

 

7.2.6 Southrop has deployed 2 speed cameras, and works closely with Police, 

RAF, Thyme and their suppliers to bring speeds lower. In response to these 

traffic concerns the parish council will now deploy a 3rd camera on the 

approach to Thyme's southerly car park in an effort to calm those speeds on an 

unlit, unfootpathed, single carriageway road that runs through a well populated 

domestic housing area i.e. 50% of village households. Reference Mrs J Hadland's 

objection. Southrop traffic, despite our efforts, is only barely under control. This 

latest application will add to it. 

 

7.2.7 Furthermore the use of conservation area and Listed building status are 

meant to protect these precious spaces and buildings. This application impinges 

on both, and if permitted warns this and other villages that these protections 

may be meaningless.  

 

7.2.8 Specifically, we reiterate: 

 

7.2.9    The development will be highly visible from many parts of the existing 

conservation area, inc road, pub, footpaths and listed buildings. This will have a 

substantial and permanent impact on our village context. Lighting during hours 

of darkness will make these stand out all the more. 

 

7.2.10    Neighbours, who live in listed buildings, note the development is right 

on their boundaries, highly visible, hard to obscure, with loss of privacy. The 

application presses too much into a small and precious green space. See 

objection comments from Ms R Reid and Ms S Dale. 

 

7.2.11   There is a plant room (to service the leisure facility's saunas, hot pools 

etc.) proposed close to a party wall, offering the possibility of continuous noise 

in an otherwise peaceful setting. We are also concerned what will happen to the 

hot/treated waters being proposed and how this will be released back into the 

environment. This implies substantial plant. 

 

7.2.12   The development proposes 3 bedrooms, with the probability of 24/7 

noise and light pollution; ie this isn't just a daytime facility. Once more in a small 

quiet village. 

 

Page 19



7.2.13   This development is on land that hitherto has not been developed, and 

there is considerable concern that more of the adjacent land will be developed 

in the future unless a constraint is placed on the current development proposal." 

 

8.  Other Representations: 

 

8.1 49 third party representations have been received, objecting to the application 

 on the grounds of: 

 

i. Site is a greenfield site which is an important open space in the 

 Conservation Area (including setting of listed buildings)  

ii. Proposal would harm Southrop's heritage and Conservation Area 

iii. Proposals not in keeping with Southrop 

iv. Proposed designs not vernacular, unsympathetic and out of character 

v. Proposed buildings would cause harm to the beauty of Southrop 

vi. Impact of proposal on listed buildings not considered by Conservation 

 Officer 

vii. Proposals detrimental to the setting of listed buildings 

viii. Consider harm to setting of listed buildings and conservation area less 

 than substantial, and considered not to be outweighed by public benefits  

ix. Insufficient assessment of impact on heritage assets and disagreement 

 with conclusions drawn from the assessment provided 

x. Proximity of proposals to neighbour dwellings (including listed 

 buildings) 

xi. The antiquity and heritage of Southrop must be preserved above all else, 

 and no new-build of that ilk permitted 

xii. Impact on views from Public Rights of Way 

xiii. Harm to the Cotswolds National Landscape (AONB) (including to its 

 tranquillity)  

xiv. Proposal overdevelopment and causes urbanisation 

xv. Impact on local wildlife 

xvi. Light pollution and lose of peace and tranquillity 

xvii. Noise and disturbance to neighbours, both during construction and use 

 (including plant room) 

xviii. Overlooking and impact on privacy 

xix. Amendments to scheme have not fully addressed issues regarding 

 residential amenity 

xx. Buildings would dominate outlook from neighbours (and garden 

 areas/outbuildings) 

xxi. No restrictions on use of buildings in the future 

xxii. Impact of traffic going to and from hotel (including helicopters) 

Page 20



xxiii. Highway safety issues with lack of pavements, children using road and 

 speed of drivers 

xxiv. Breaches of condition on other applications and use of access unlawfully 

 in breach of condition 

xxv. Issue with parking within village (by staff and visitors to the pub) 

xxvi. Would prefer to see more horses than cars 

xxvii. Concern over potential further expansion of the site 

xxviii. Supporters may not has inspected the site or have concerns over their 

 job 

xxix. Supporters do not live in the village, it is their second home, or live in a 

 location whereby they don't experience the inconveniences caused 

xxx. Lack of information provided/consultation with neighbours and local 

 residents 

xxxi. Facilities not accessible to residents of Southrop 

xxxii. Harm to the character of the village by virtue of the growth of Thyme 

xxxiii. Dislike of how the business is run 

xxxiv. Conduct of visitors of Thyme 

xxxv. Concerns over the village becoming a sort of Disneyland 

xxxvi. Impact on the village with a 'village within a village' 

xxxvii. Development not needed 

xxxviii. Adverse impacts of previous development 

xxxix. Development elsewhere refused  

xl. Lack of affordable houses 

xli. Query over when information was submitted and processes 

xlii. Planning and conservation departments have been weak even lazy in 

 the defence of the many planning policies in place to protect listed 

 buildings conservation areas and the integrity of our village and its 

 residents 

xliii. Concerns over capacity of sewage treatment plant 

xliv. Overlooking when roof maintained 

xlv. Inappropriate materials (and appearance of roof on wellbeing studio) 

xlvi. Dimensions not provided on plan 

xlvii. Concern over location of plant room 

xlviii. Concerns over compliance with conditions 

xlix. Lack of lighting details (can concerns over effectiveness of a condition) 

l. Conditions should restrict the use site   

li. Lack of LVIA, Noise Impact Assessment and Sound Insulation 

 Requirements and Vent/Extraction Statement required by the 

 Validation Checklist 

lii. Preapplication advice not made public 

liii. Proposals not 'small scale' 

liv. Loss of field which currently relating run off during wet periods 

Page 21



lv. Support for the existing business and conversion of buildings 

lvi. Historic link between the site and Dovecote not properly assessed 

lvii.  Latest amendment to scheme includes improvements but do not 

 resolve concerns 

 

8.2 1 third party representations have been received (submitted by an Associate 

 Heritage Consultant on behalf of a neighbour). They have also subsequently 

 written in objection to the proposal. The comment raised a number of concerns 

 over the level of information provided as well as the potential impact of the 

 development of heritage assets.  

 

8.3 35 third party representations have been received, supporting the application 

 on the grounds of: 

 

i. Support for works previously undertaken at Thyme and business  

ii. Need for continued investment and growth 

iii. Proposals would be an asset to the area and would support of the rural 

 economy 

iv. Creates jobs for people in the village 

v. Would support Thyme over the winter period 

vi. Support of facilities the community can use within the village 

vii. Proposal in keeping with the surrounding buildings 

viii. Design sensitive to the area 

ix. Thyme has undertaken previous conversion and extensions sensitively 

 and to a high standard 

x. Limited visibility of buildings outside Thyme 

xi. Spa would create little to no noise 

xii. Traffic issues in Southrop unrelated to Thyme (village used as a cut 

 through) 

xiii. Most of Thyme traffic utilises access outside village 

xiv. Spa would not result in additional traffic 

xv. Contribution applicants make to the village community 

 

9.  Applicant's Supporting Information: 

 

• Aboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement, dated July 2025.  

• Design, Access, Planning and Heritage Statement, dated June 2025 (updated 

August 2025).  

• Drainage Strategy, reference U0666 -Rev - V1. Prepared by Urban Water 

• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report, reference 2025-031 Version 1, 

dated 15/07/2025. Prepared by smart ecology 

• Biodiversity Self-Assessment Form, dated 18/07/2025 

Page 22



• SKY GARDEN WILDFLOWER BLANKET SYSTEM SGWBSS01 - SYSTEM 

SUMMARY 

• SKY GARDEN WILDFLOWER BLANKET SYSTEM - SYSTEM DIAGRAM Version 

1.1 

 

10.  Officer's Assessment: 

 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 'If 

 regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

 determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 

 made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

 otherwise.'  The starting point for the determination of this application is 

 therefore the current development plan for the District which is the adopted 

 Cotswold District Local Plan 2011 - 2031. 

 

10.2 The policies and guidance within the revised National Planning Policy 

 Framework (NPPF) are also a material planning consideration. 

 

 Background and Proposed Development 

 

10.3 The proposal involves the erection of a single-storey building and an extension 

 to provide additional spa/wellness facilities and a single and two-storey 

 separate building for additional residential/hotel accommodation.   

 

10.4 The largest building comprises the wellness facilities including yoga studio, spa 

 pools, sauna and changing rooms. The changing rooms and spa pool create an 

 L-shape around a pool courtyard leading to the existing swimming pool. To the 

 south of these is a wing with sauna and yoga studio. North to south it would 

 measure approximately 32m and east to west it would measure approximately 

 16m. The L-shape has a flat green roof with an overall height of approximately 

 2.9m (taken from the pool courtyard side). It would be significantly glazed in 

 the courtyard facing elevations, with an oak frame. The rear elevations would 

 be less glazed, although still with glazed areas, and clad in oak.  

 

10.5 The wing to the south is at a lower level (circa 0.5m) and has a dual pitched roof. 

 It would have eaves and ridge heights of approximately 2.3m and 4.8m 

 respectively.  It would be constructed with rubblestone walls and a slate tile 

 roof.  

 

10.6 In addition, a relaxation room would be attached to the existing treatment 

 rooms, Stable Cottage. It would be a heavily glazed green flat roofed structure. 

 It would extend to the side of the cottage by approximately 7.2m with a depth 

Page 23



 of approximately 4.2m. The main roof would have a height of 2.9m, with a stone 

 chimney extending to 3.2m. 

 

10.7 The third structure comprises the accommodation, including three guest 

 bedrooms and linking garden room. This structure includes a single-storey 

 element, a link, and a two-storey element. The single-storey element has a 

 footprint of approximately 7.5m by 5.5m, with eaves and ridge heights of 

 approximately 2.2m and 4.7m respectively. The two-storey element would have 

 a footprint of approximately 5.8m by 9.5m, with eaves and ridge heights of 

 approximately 3.8m and 7.2m respectively. The first floor would be accessed via 

 external tallet steps. Both would be constructed with rubble stone walls and 

 stone roof tiles. These are set at an angle to each other with a glazed flat roofed 

 linking structure approximately 5.9m in length (maximum) with a height of 

 2.6m.  

 

(a)  Principle of Development 

 

10.8 Southrop is considered to be a Non-Principal Settlement due to its size and the 

 services and facilities available within it.  

 

10.9 The proposal includes two main sections - additional bedroom accommodation 

 and additional wellness facilities. Both of these would be operated as part of 

 Thyme, and as such, are considered to be associated with existing tourist 

 accommodation. As such, the following Local Plan policy is applicable to this 

 proposal: 

 

10.10 Local Plan Policy EC11: Tourist Accommodation states: 

 

"Hotels and Serviced Accommodation:  

 

1.  New hotels and other serviced accommodation will only be permitted 

where the proposal:  

 

a.  is provided through the change of use of existing buildings, especially 

where  this would involve the conservation of a listed or other historic building; 

or  

b.  is appropriately located within Development Boundaries.  

 

2.  Exceptionally, proposals for a new hotel that is directly associated on-

site with a tourist attraction, and required to sustain the viability of the tourist 

attraction, will be acceptable." 

 

Page 24



10.11 Supporting Paragraph 9.11.1 states "Generally, hotel accommodation in the 

 District is considered to be adequate, but with scope for the upgrading of 

 existing facilities and further development of conference facilities. Hotels and 

 other serviced accommodation will normally be acceptable within settlements 

 as well as extensions to existing facilities." 

 

10.12 The proposal is linked to an existing hotel and would involve the upgrading of 

 existing facilities. It is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle.  

 

10.13 Local Plan Policies EC1 (Employment Development) and EC3 (Proposals for all 

 types of Employment-Generating Uses) also support the retention and 

 appropriate growth of local employment opportunities.  

 

10.14 Furthermore, Section 6 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 supports building a strong, competitive economy, including a prosperous rural 

 economy. NPPF Paragraph 88 specifies decisions should enable "c) sustainable 

 rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the 

 countryside". 

 

10.15 The principle of the development is therefore considered to comply with Local 

 Plan Policies EC1, EC3, EC11 and NPPF Section 6.  

 

(b)  Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 

 

10.16 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

 1990 states that when considering whether to grant planning permission for 

 development which affects a listed building or its setting, the Local Planning 

 Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 

 or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

 possesses.  

 

10.17 The site lies within Southrop Conservation Area, wherein the Local Planning 

 Authority is statutorily obliged to pay special attention to the desirability of 

 preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area, in accordance 

 with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 

 1990. 

 

10.18 Considerable weight and importance must be given to the aforementioned 

 legislation. 

 

10.19 Local Plan Policy EN1 seeks where appropriate, to promote the protection, 

 conservation and enhancement of the historic and natural environment.   

Page 25



10.20 Local Plan Policy EN2 states that 'Development will be permitted which accords 

 with the Cotswold Design Code. Proposals should be of design quality that 

 respects the character and distinctive appearance of the locality.'   

 

10.21 Local Plan Policy EN10 states: 

 

'1  In considering proposals that affect a designated heritage asset or its 

setting, great weight will be given to the asset's conservation. The more 

important the asset, the greater the weight should be. 

 

2  Development proposals that sustain and enhance the character, 

appearance and significance of designated heritage assets (and their settings), 

and that put them to viable uses, consistent with their conservation, will be 

permitted. 

 

3  Proposals that would lead to harm to the significance of a designated 

heritage asset or its setting will not be permitted, unless a clear and convincing 

justification of public benefit can be demonstrated to outweigh that harm. Any 

such assessment will take account, in the balance of material considerations: 

- The importance of the asset; 

- The scale of harm; and 

- The nature and level of the public benefit of the proposal.' 

 

10.22 Local Plan Policy EN11 Designated Heritage Assets - Conservation Areas states: 

 

'Development proposals, including demolition, that would affect Conservation 

Areas and their settings, will be permitted provided they: 

 

a.  Preserve and where appropriate enhance the special character and 

appearance of the Conservation Area in terms of siting, scale, form, proportion, 

design, materials and the retention of positive features; 

b.  Include hard and soft landscape proposals, where appropriate, that 

respect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area; 

c.  Will not result in the loss of open spaces, including garden areas and 

village greens, which make a valuable contribution to the character and/or 

appearance, and/or allow important views into or out of the Conservation Area. 

d.  Have regard to the relevant Conservation Area appraisal (where 

available); and  

e.  do not include internally illuminated advertisement signage unless the 

signage does not have an adverse impact on the Conservation Area or its 

setting.' 

 

Page 26



10.23 Section 12 of the NPPF seeks to achieve well designed places. Section 16 of the 

 NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the historic environment. Paragraph 212 

 states that when considering the impact of the proposed works on the 

 significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 

 asset's conservation.  Paragraph 213 states that any harm to or loss of 

 significance, through alteration or development within the asset's setting 

 should require clear and convincing justification.  Paragraph 215 states that 

 where proposals will cause harm to the significance of a designated heritage 

 asset that is less than substantial harm, that harm is weighed against the public 

 benefits of those works. 

 

10.24 Further guidance is available within the Cotswold Design Code, the National 

 Design Guide, and Historic England's Historic Environment Good Practice 

 Advice in Planning: Note 3. 

 

10.25 With regard to the impact of the development on the Conservation Area, the 

 Council's Design and Conservation Officer has advised:  

 

10.25.1   "The application site lies within the designated conservation, the 

boundary of which follows the original, curved boundary to the south of 

Southrop Lodge. The application site is a not unattractive open space, which 

appears to have been associated with, and within the historic curtilage of 

Southrop Lodge, rather than part of the wider agricultural landscape, albeit it a 

functional rather than an aesthetic capacity. The general character of the 

immediate context is very much edge-of-settlement, with former farm buildings 

to the west, and the designed pleasure grounds and orchard of Southrop Lodge 

to the east. The site does not appear to have been intentionally, aesthetically 

designed, and does not contribute to any significant views and is not widely 

visible. The site contributes to the historic value, character and appearance of 

the conservation area primarily as a space that appears to have been associated 

with Southrop Lodge, and an integral part of the transitional, edge-of-

settlement area. The site is of some aesthetic value (fortuitous rather then 

designed) as an open space; but as it is not widely visible with no significant 

view, it is not an important open space, and as such, makes a very limited 

contribution to the character and appearance of the wider conservation area, 

other than simply forming a part of the general, edge-of-settlement transition 

between the village and the surrounding countryside.  

 

10.25.2  The proposed development of the site with low-density, 

sympathetically-designed buildings that are intended to either resemble 

ancillary outbuildings appropriate to a quasi-agricultural, edge-of-settlement 

site, and discrete contemporary buildings beneath low, green roofs, would 

Page 27



reflect and sustain the traditional, edge-of-settlement character of the context, 

and the association with 10.25.3   Southrop Lodge would also be sustained. The 

loss of the open paddock itself would entail some very limited loss of aesthetic 

(fortuitous) value, although the wider impact upon the character, appearance 

and significance of the conservation area would be negligible. Therefore, there 

may, potentially, be some harm, but this would, at most, be of a very limited 

nature, and at the extreme bottom of the less-than-substantial spectrum. Any 

such harm should be weighed against any public benefits that would accrue 

from the proposal in accordance with Paragraph 215 of the N.P.P.F." 

 

10.26 With regard to the setting of listed buildings, the Conservation Officer has 

 provided an assessment of the impact on those close to the site as well as the 

 value of the open space part of the site (Appendix A). The site is considered 

 primarily to have historically been associated with Southrop Lodge, with a 

 functional association. It is considered that the contribution that the site makes 

 to the setting and significance of Southrop Lodge is modest. Due to the design 

 of the proposal, as above and detailed below, it is considered that the proposed 

 development would not cause any harm to the setting or significance of 

 Southrop Lodge. The relaxation room would be attached to the Stable Cottage, 

 within the historic garden area of Southrop Lodge and curtilage listed to it. 

 Whilst the proposal in linked to Stable Cottage the design would result in the 

 appearance of a distinct, but abutting garden structure, rather than an 

 extension, which is considered suitable for the site. The proposal would also 

 include the removal of a modest section of historic wall, providing an entrance 

 way and in association with the extension. Whilst creating an opening, the 

 majority of the wall would remain intact and would retain its form and 

 significance as a boundary between Southrop Lodge and the field.  

 

10.27 Regarding The Dovecote, this was a functional, agricultural building, which 

 would not have had an aesthetically-designed setting, with the site's 

 contribution to its setting considered limited to the general, edge-or-

 settlement character of its surroundings. As such, given the quasi-agricultural, 

 edge-of-settlement design of the proposals, it is considered that the proposed 

 development would cause any harm to the setting or significance of The 

 Dovecote. 

 

10.28 Regarding Newman's House, this appears to comprise a 17th and 18th century 

 house. There is little direct intervisibility between Newman's House and the site. 

 The site is considered to make only a limited contribution to its setting and 

 significance, with a general, edge-of-settlement character. Given the design 

 approach, the proposal is considered to have little impact upon Newman's 

Page 28



 House, and consequently it is not considered that the proposed development 

 would cause any harm to the setting or significance of Newman's House. 

 

10.29 It is noted that historically the site and the aforementioned listed buildings may 

 have been under shared ownership. As part of the evolution of the village the 

 field boundaries have changed over time, and with the current arrangement it 

 is considered the significance of their setting is a laid out above.  

 

10.30 With regard to other listed buildings, the Conservation Officer notes "The other 

 listed buildings within this part of the village are at greater distance to the site, 

 which contributes little to their setting or significance, and consequently it is 

 not considered that the proposed development would cause any harm to their 

 setting or significance." 

 

10.31 Overall, the proposed development is considered to be low-density, with 

 sympathetically-designed buildings that are intended to either resemble 

 ancillary outbuildings and discrete contemporary buildings beneath low, green 

 roofs. The most enclosed element of the proposal relates to the proposed spa 

 pools and changing rooms. This aspect comprises an L-shaped contemporary 

 addition, with light weight glazing and timber with green roof. This 

 juxtaposition of a contemporary structure, but of a scale proportionate to its 

 surrounds and incorporating traditional materials, is considered to fit well within 

 this section of the site. It follows a courtyard pattern reflecting the agricultural 

 nature of the area. Details of the green roof would be required by condition.  

 

10.32 The more traditionally designed buildings to the south of the site are 

 considered appropriate to a quasi-agricultural, edge-of-settlement site, which 

 would reflect and sustain the traditional, edge-of-settlement character of the 

 context. 

 

10.33 The Conservation Officer has advised the following regarding the other aspects 

 of the proposal: 

 

 "Yoga studio. 

 

10.33.1   In the middle is a linear range on the western side of the site. This 

echoes the form and roof pitch of several former agricultural structures within 

the context, and appears reasonable.  

 

10.33.2   The building now takes the form of a six-bay shelter shed, the 

arrangement of the posts and lintels has now been improved, and following 

Page 29



historic precedent elsewhere on the site, the roof is now proposed to be clad in 

blue slate. 

 

Relaxation room. 

 

10.33.3   The relaxation room, which also comprises the extension to The 

Oxhouse, would comprise a simple, clean, contemporary, oak and glass 

structure with a green roof, echoing the design of the changing-room building. 

The room would be accessed from the curtilage-listed building through an 

existing, modern pair of French doors, and a narrower, lower link would give the 

room the appearance of a distinct, but abutting garden structure, rather than 

an extension. 

 

Bedrooms. 

 

10.33.4   The overall form and massing of the southern, bedroom range, follows 

the preapplication discussions, with two outbuilding-style structures with a 

light-weight link. 

 

10.33.5   The fine detailing of the proposal has gone through a number of 

refinements, and the final design is clean, simple and appropriate. 

 

10.33.6   The link echoes the architectural language of the relaxation room and 

the changing room building, and will allow visual permeability through the 

building, and allow the two ends of the structure to rear visually as separate 

elements. The western end appears as a simple interpretation of a small stable 

with hayloft above, with tallet steps to the north, and simple, clean, rectangular 

openings. These openings have no expressed lintels and glazing with minimal 

frames, but in a building that is a subtle, simple contemporary interpretation, 

this could work.  

 

10.33.7   These has been discussion over whether the stone should be pointed 

or left unpointed. The latter would be preferable, as it would both emphasise 

that the structure is an interpretation, rather than pastiche; furthermore, there 

is some historic precedent for outbuilding, even two storey ones of entirely dry-

stone construction. This could be clarified by way of a conditioned sample 

panel." 

 

10.34 Some amendments have been submitted since these comments to address 

 concerns raised by neighbour. It is considered that these amendments do not 

 materially alter the above assessment with regard to the impact of the proposal 

 on heritage assets.   

Page 30



10.35 Overall, subject to details, the proposals are considered to reflect the quasi-

 agricultural nature of the site, and setting of nearby listed buildings, and the 

 rural context of the village and Conservation Area. The proposals are considered 

 to preserve the setting of the listed buildings, and the significance of Stable 

 Cottage.  

 

10.36 The Conservation Officer has identified that there may be some harm to the 

 significance of the Conservation Area, but has advised that this would be, "at 

 most, be of a very limited nature, and at the extreme bottom of the less-than-

 substantial spectrum." Paragraph 215 states that where proposals will cause 

 harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset that is less than 

 substantial harm, that harm is weighed against the public benefits of those 

 works. In this case, the proposal would support the continued growth of Thyme, 

 a business that provides employment and facilities within a rural village where 

 alternative opportunities are limited. This represents a clear public benefit. 

 Given the very limited level of harm identified, only a modest degree of public 

 benefit is required to outweigh that harm. On balance, it is considered that the 

 public benefits of the proposal would outweigh the identified harm. 

 

10.37 The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the design and heritage 

 considerations of Local Plan Policies EN2, EN4, EN10 and EN11, and Sections 12 

 and 16 of the NPPF.  

 

(c) Impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape (Area of Outstanding 

 Natural Beauty) 

 

10.38 The site is located within the Cotswolds National Landscape (Area of 

 Outstanding Natural Beauty). Section 85(A1) of the Countryside and Rights of 

 Way (CROW) Act 2000 (as amended by Section 245 of the Levelling-up and 

 Regeneration Act 2023) states that relevant authorities have a duty to seek to 

 further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area 

 of outstanding natural beauty. 

 

10.39 Local Plan Policy EN1 states that new development will, where appropriate, 

 promote the protection, conservation and enhancement of the historic and 

 natural environment by:  

 

a. ensuring the protection and enhancement of existing natural and historic 

environmental assets and their settings in proportion with the significance of 

the asset; 

b. contributing to the provision and enhancement of multi-functioning 

green infrastructure; 

Page 31



c. addressing climate change, habitat loss and fragmentation through 

creating new habitats and the better management of existing habitats; 

d. seeking to improve air, soil and water quality where feasible; and 

e. ensuring design standards that complement the character of the area 

and the sustainable use of the development. 

 

10.40 Local Plan Policy EN4 states that development will be permitted where it does 

 not have a significant detrimental impact on the natural and historic landscape 

 (including the tranquillity of the countryside) of Cotswold District or 

 neighbouring areas, and that proposals will take account of landscape and 

 historic landscape character, visual quality and local distinctiveness. They will be 

 expected to enhance, restore and better manage the natural and historic 

 landscape, and any significant landscape features and elements, including key 

 views, the setting of settlements, settlement patterns and heritage assets. 

 

10.41 Local Plan Policy EN5 Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

 states that in determining development proposals within the AONB or its 

 setting, the conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the 

 landscape, its character and special qualities will be given great weight. 

 

10.42 Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 

 contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 'protecting and 

 enhancing valued landscapes' and 'recognising the intrinsic character and 

 beauty of the countryside'.  

 

10.43 Paragraph 189 of the NPPF states that 'great weight should be given to 

 conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in ... National 

 Landscapes which have the highest status of protection in relation to these 

 issues.' 

  

10.44 In addition, Cotswold District Council endorsed the Cotswolds National 

 Landscape Management Plan 2025-2030 on the 8th May 2025 within which 

 Policy CE13 is of relevance as it deals with 'Development and infrastructure - 

 principles'. This policy includes:   

 

'CE13.1. Development and infrastructure proposals in the Cotswolds National 

Landscape (CNL) and its setting should be delivered in a way that is compatible 

with and seeks to further the conservation and enhancement of the natural 

beauty of the CNL including its special qualities. In doing so, they should have 

regard to - and be compatible with the CNL Management Plan and guidance 

produced by the CNL Board' 

 

Page 32



10.45 The site is classified in the Cotswolds Conservation Board's Landscape Character 

 Assessment (LCA) as within Landscape Character 12 the Dip-Slope Lowland 

 Valley, and within this the Character Area 12C Lower Leach Valley. The 

 Cotswolds Conservation Board's Landscape Strategy and Guidelines advise the 

 "Dip-Slope Lowland Valleys are deeply rural and are therefore sensitive to 

 developments that might compromise this characteristic" although "[e]xisting 

 valley settlements also have a reduced sensitivity to change". 

 

10.46 As part of this, Potential Landscape Implications include:  

 

• Intrusion of expanded settlement fringes into the landscape. 

• Erosion of distinctive settlement patterns due to settlement growth and 

coalescence. 

• Loss/dilution of organic growth patterns of settlements including the 

relationship between the historic core and adjacent historic fields, paddocks 

and closes 

• Proliferation of suburban building styles, housing estate layout and 

materials and the introduction of ornamental garden plants and boundary 

features 

• Increased traffic leading to increased damage to road verges and roadside 

hedges and walls and the creation of informal passing places  

• Introduction and accumulation of lit areas and erosion of characteristically 

dark skies. 

• Loss of archaeological and historical features, field patterns and landscapes.  

• Interruption, weakening or loss of the historic character of settlements and 

the historic context in how they have expanded, especially the importance 

of the relationship between the historic core of the settlement and surviving 

historic features such as churchyards, manor houses, burgage plots, historic 

farms, pre-enclosure paddocks and closes  

 

10.47 Suggested Landscape Strategies and Guidelines include:  

 

• Maintain the sparsely settled character of the Dip-slope Lowland Valley by 

limiting new development to existing settlements.  

• Avoid development that will intrude negatively into the landscape and 

cannot be successfully mitigated, for example, extensions to settlements on 

visible valley slopes.  

• Ensure new development is proportionate and does not overwhelm the 

existing settlement 

• Ensure that new development does not adversely affect settlement character 

and form or impact on views of key features such as church towers.  

Page 33



• Avoid developments incorporating standardised development layout, 

suburban style lighting, construction details and materials that cumulatively 

can lead to the erosion of peaceful landscape character.  

• Layout of development should respect local built character and avoid 

cramming up to boundaries resulting in hard suburban style edge to the 

settlement.  

• Control the proliferation of suburban building styles and materials  

• Promote the conservation and/or encourage the restoration of existing 

stone buildings in preference to new built development particularly in rural 

areas.  

• Promote the use of local stone and building styles in the construction of new 

buildings and extensions to existing dwellings. (New buildings should, at 

least, respect local vernacular style).  

• Conserve the existing dark skies.  

• Adopt measures to minimise and where possible reduce light pollution  

• Retain existing trees, dry stone walls, hedges etc as part of the scheme. 

• Break up harsh edges of new development with appropriate and adequate 

tree planting ideally in advance of the development taking place.  

• Ensure the density of new development reflects its location relative to the 

'core' of the settlement and its proximity to the surrounding rural landscape  

• Consider the impact on local Public Rights of Way as settlements expand 

and take into account any required improvements 

 

10.48 Whilst the site provides an open area, due to the walling on three sides, it 

 provides limited views through from the village to the fields beyond. Whilst the 

 development would be next to historic buildings within the village it would not 

 adversely affect views of key features within it. The settlement boundary is 

 irregular in this location, and the proposal would essentially infill an area, with 

 the design retaining the informal edge of this part of the settlement.  The scale 

 of the development is considered proportionate to the existing village and 

 would not overwhelm it. 

 

10.49 The proposals, as amended, includes guest bedroom accommodation (and 

 garden room) which extends in line with the boundary to the east, but also 

 include elements which are stepped back from this existing boundary. Whilst 

 there would be areas of glazing along this boundary elevation, this is primarily 

 at ground floor level and therefore limits the degree of light spill. The building 

 is considered to appear as the edge of the village, rather than as an intrusion 

 into the landscape.  Additionally, there is a secondary wall and boundary to the 

 south of the site (approximately 32m away) which forms the edge of the 

 conservation area and wider field. This boundary is relatively tall as a field 

 boundary, although there is a gateway which provides a clearer view. This wall 

Page 34



 provides visual separation between the PROWs within the field and the 

 proposed development, as well as retaining the existing field.  The design of 

 this building reflects agricultural buildings and utilises high quality traditional 

 local materials. 

 

10.50 The development to the north, has a generally low form, with a more 

 contemporary design. This approach is considered suitable for the less sensitive 

 inner section. The overall design remains reflective of the quasi-agricultural 

 character of the site and part of the settlement. The density of the proposal 

 remains relatively low, suitable for the surrounding context.  

 

10.51 External lighting has the potential to adversely affect the dark skies of the 

 National Landscape, as well as appearing suburban in character. As such, a 

 condition is recommended to require a lighting scheme to be submitted and 

 approved.  

 

10.52 The proposed use as part of the existing hotel is considered not to negatively 

 affect the peaceful landscape character of the site, especially with the structure 

 on the edge comprising primarily of bedrooms. As such, both the principle of 

 the use of this area of land, as well as the design of the proposal is considered 

 to be acceptable with regard to the impact on the Cotswolds National 

 Landscape.  

 

10.53 The proposal is therefore considered to conserve the natural beauty of the 

 Cotswolds National Landscape in accordance with Local Plan Policies EN4 and 

 EN5, Section 15 of the NPPF, and the Cotswolds National Landscape 

 Management Plan. 

 

(d)  Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

10.54 Local Plan EN2 advises proposals should accord with the Design Code. This 

 includes sections relating to privacy, loss of daylight and overbearing.  

 

10.55 Local Plan Policy EN15 states: 

 

1.  Development will be permitted that will not result in unacceptable risk 

to public health or safety, the natural environment or the amenity of existing 

land uses through:  

 

a. pollution of the air, land, surface water, or ground water sources; and/or  

b. generation of noise or light levels, or other disturbance such as spillage, 

flicker, vibration, dust or smell. 

Page 35



10.56 Paragraph 135 states Planning policies and decisions should ensure that 

 developments:  

 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 

and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; 

and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 

quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 

10.57 The nearest neighbouring properties (outside the ownership of the applicant) 

 are The Dovecote (listed building address Barn Approximately 30 Metres To 

 South East Of Newmans House) and Newmans House (also listed). These are to 

 the west of the site and share a boundary with it.  

 

10.58 The dwellinghouse of The Dovecote is separated from the site by approximately 

 16m at its closest corner, with a stone wall along the boundary. Perpendicular, 

 and attached, to the wall is an outbuilding (ancillary guest accommodation) 

 serving this dwellinghouse, with pool to the front. It benefits from an additional 

 garden area to the west of the dwellinghouse.  The dwellinghouse of Newmans 

 House is separated from the site by approximately 38m. A detached outbuilding 

 is located between them, approximately 17m from the boundary with the site.  

 

10.59 The proposal has been amended to reduce and relocate plant rooms away from 

 the boundary near the ancillary accommodation.   

 

10.60 The proposed yoga studio and spa pool building runs parallel to the boundary 

 wall with these neighbours, separately by approximately 1.8m. In addition, the 

 single-storey bedroom structure would similarly be located near the boundary. 

 Third parties have raised that the land levels of the neighbours are somewhat 

 lower than the site; however, the overall land is relatively level and it is 

 considered that the level differences would be limited. Given the proposed 

 structures height and separation from windows within the ancillary 

 accommodation, and main houses, the proposals are considered not to 

 unacceptable affect the residential amenity of the occupiers of these buildings 

 with regard to loss of daylight or overbearing. The windows facing this 

 boundary are at single-storey level and as such the proposal is also considered 

 not to cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the neighbours with regard to 

 loss of privacy as a result of these.  

 

10.61 Concerns have been raised in relation to the use of this area as part of the hotel, 

 with overlooking possible over the wall into the garden and pool area of The 

 Dovecote. To the north west the site and part of the garden of The Dovecote 

 are separated by a taller wall (circa 1.8-2m); however, the wall along the 

Page 36



 boundary alongside The Dovecote's swimming pool is lower, allowing potential 

 views across this area.  For most guests this area would not be more available 

 than currently so, with a wall and fences proposed to limit their access to the 

 boundary wall, and as such, their views over this area. The guests within the 

 bedrooms would be able to access the area to the south, which shares a 

 boundary. However, this would be limited to a small number of people at any 

 time, and is not indicated as a siting out area or similar. In addition, The 

 Dovecote benefits from other garden areas and there are nearby PRoWs with a 

 degree of overlooking from these possible. It is also noted that concerns have 

 been raised regarding overlooking whilst the flat green roofs are being 

 maintained. Whilst those maintaining the roof would have greater views over 

 garden areas, this would be undertaken for relatively brief periods, with workers 

 engaged in their task. This is considered reasonable and not dissimilar to many 

 a situation where works are required for maintenance of taller structures or 

 trees. Given this, it is considered that the proposal would not result an 

 unacceptable level of overlooking/loss of privacy.  

 

10.62 The use of the bedrooms, although potentially occupied throughout the day 

 and night are considered unlikely to result in unacceptable noise levels given 

 the number of rooms and nature of the use of these.  

 

10.63 The wellness facility, including yoga studio, whilst intended for calm activities, 

 but could be used with louder music. The Environmental Health Officer has 

 therefore advised the inclusion of a condition to manage the impact of any 

 amplified music. Whilst the neighbour is divided by a wall and the yoga section 

 of the building is located away from the boundary, there is the potential for 

 music at a volume which would unduly disturb the neighbouring properties. It 

 is expected for the use of the building including the yoga studio would not 

 result in an unacceptable level of noise; however, there may be some 

 disturbance, and as such it is considered reasonable to include a condition 

 which would restrict operational hours such that it could not be operated 

 between 9pm and 6am.  

 

10.64 Other properties around the site are either associated with Thyme for which any 

 noise and disturbance concerns would be expected to be addressed by Thyme, 

 or a separate residential properties located further from the site that those 

 discussed above. Given the greater level of separation, it is considered that the 

 impact on these properties would acceptable.  

 

10.65 Concerns have been raised in relation to the use of the area for a bar or similar. 

 It is noted that the area formed part of the area which was previously granted 

 a change of use, and as such could be used for such activities (on the basis that 

Page 37



 this did not include operational development). However, the addition of 

 structures in the area could increase the likelihood of this occurring. 

 Additionally, without control the buildings proposed could be operated for 

 alternative uses associated with the hotel. Some of these uses may result in 

 disturbance to the neighbouring properties. It is therefore recommended that 

 a condition to ensure the buildings and amenity areas are used for the purposes 

 indicated on the site plan. 

 

10.66 As such, subject to condition the impact on the neighbouring properties 

 amenity is considered acceptable, and in accordance with Local Plan Policies 

 EN2 and EN15, and Section 12 of the NPPF.  

 

(e)  Highway Safety  

 

10.67 Local Plan Policy INF4 states that development will be permitted that provides 

 safe and suitable access and has regard, where appropriate, to the Manual for 

 Gloucester Streets.  

 

10.68 Local Plan Policy INF5 states that development will provide residential and non-

 residential vehicle parking where there is clear and compelling evidence that 

 such provision is necessary to manage the local road network.   

 

10.69 Section 9 of the NPPF promotes sustainable transport. Paragraph 114 of the 

 NPPF states that in applications for development, 'it should be ensured that: 

 

a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision 

for the site, the type of development and its location;  

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 

c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the 

content of associated standards reflects current national guidance, including 

the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and  

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network 

(in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost 

effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.'  

 

10.70 The proposal seeks to provide additional facilities and accommodation to an 

 existing facility. The proposal does not include direct access to these areas by 

 car, with the guests expected to utilise the existing car park associated with 

 Thyme. A number of objections have been raised in relation to traffic through 

 the village as a whole, as well as in relation to traffic to Thyme.  

 

10.71 Gloucestershire County Council Highways Officer has advised:  

Page 38



10.71.1   "I have of course given this application a great deal of consideration 

and thought in recognition of the numbers of letters of primarily, objection and 

secondly, in support of this development. 

 

10.71.2   I have arrived at my decision based on the increase of 3 bedrooms 

added to the existing 28 that are currently at the hotel. The additional spa 

features are what can be expected at a hotel of this scale and therefore I do not 

wish to raise any objections to the development. 

 

10.71.3   The Highway Authority has undertaken an assessment of the planning 

application.  Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway 

Authority concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on 

Highway Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable 

grounds on which an objection could be maintained. 

 

10.71.4   The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of no objection".  

 

10.72 Officers agree that given the limited number (and proportion) of additional 

 bedrooms proposed, and that the majority of the built form is to provide 

 additional facilities to accommodate existing guests, that the impact on 

 highway safety would not be unacceptable. The existing parking area is 

 considered sufficient to accommodate the additional cars which may result 

 from the proposal.  

 

10.73 The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Local 

 Plan Policies INF4 and INF5 and Section 9 of the NPPF.  

 

(f)  Trees 

 

10.74 Local Plan Policy EN7 requires development to conserve and enhance natural 

 assets likely to be affected, including trees, hedgerows, and woodland of high 

 landscape amenity, ecological or historical value as well as veteran trees. 

 

10.75 There are a couple of lower value trees which would be removed as part of the 

 proposed development. This is considered acceptable subject to securing 

 suitable replanting as part of a landscaping plan.  

 

10.76 The proposal would also intrude on root protection area of two mature lime 

 trees. It is considered that the degree by which they would intrude would not 

 result in unacceptable detriment to the tree; however, that an arboricultural 

 method statement would be required to ensure how the works were undertaken 

Page 39



 (i.e. how any roots were dealt with and what measures would be put in place to 

 stop concrete leeching). A condition to this effect is therefore recommended.  

 

(g)  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 

10.77 Local Plan Policy EN8 outlines that development will be permitted that 

 conserves and enhances biodiversity and geodiversity, providing net gains 

 where possible. Furthermore, it outlines that proposals that would result in the 

 loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats and resources, or which are likely 

 to have an adverse effect on internationally protected species, will not be 

 permitted. 

 

10.78 Local Plan Policy EN9 seeks to safeguard the integrity of designated biodiversity 

 and geodiversity sites at international, national and local scales.  This conforms 

 with Section 15 of the NPPF.  

 

10.79 Section 15 of the NPPF also outlines that development should conserves and 

 where possible enhances biodiversity and geodiversity and should not result in 

 the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats and resources. 

 

10.80 A preliminary ecological assessment was undertaken and protected and priority 

 species were not observed during it. Nevertheless, there are commuting and 

 foraging opportunities present. The Biodiversity Officer has therefore advised 

 that precautionary mitigation should be followed, with CDC's precautionary 

 method of working document details considered sufficient precautionary 

 measures in this case. A condition to this effect is therefore advised.  

 

Biodiversity net gain 

 

10.81 The proposal would result in an overall net loss in habitat units on-site (-

 89.07%). The PEA report identifies that the applicant intends to purchase off-

 site units to meet the biodiversity gain objective and discharge the biodiversity 

 gain condition. The Biodiversity Officer has advised that this approach is 

 acceptable; however, evidence of the unit purchase will be required to enable 

 the successful discharge of the biodiversity gain condition. 

 

(h)  Flooding 

 

10.82 Local Plan Policy EN14 requires that proposals should not increase the level of 

 risk to the safety of occupiers of a site, the local community or the wider 

 environment as a result of flooding, through the appropriate application of the 

 sequential and exception tests, and the provision of site specific flood risk 

 assessments where applicable.  It requires the incorporation of flood risk 

Page 40



 management and mitigation measures in the design and layout of development 

 proposals that provide adequate provision for the lifetime of the development, 

 and that include a Sustainable Drainage System unless this is demonstrably 

 inappropriate.  This is in accordance with Section 14 of the NPPF. 

 

10.83 The site is located within a Flood Zone 1, which is the lowest designation of 

 flood zone, and the proposed type of development is acceptable in principle in 

 Flood Zone 1. As such, the principle of the proposal is acceptable; however, to 

 ensure a suitable drainage system is implemented a pre-commencement 

 condition requiring details of this is recommended.  

 

Other Matters 

 

10.84 The CIL rate for this type of development is zero and therefore no CIL is payable. 

 

10.85 Whist a number of documents are requested as part of the Local Validation List, 

 and it notes that the application may not be validated without this, it is at the 

 Council's discretion as to whether to require these before the determination of 

 the application. The NPPF advises that  "Local planning authorities should only 

 request supporting information that is relevant, necessary and material to the 

 application in question" (Paragraph 44). Planning Practice Guidance reinforces 

 this, noting that "Local planning authorities should take a proportionate 

 approach to the information requested in support of planning applications." 

 and information requested with any particular application should be 

 "reasonable having regard, in particular, to the nature and scale of the proposed 

 development".  

 

10.86 Regarding the LVIA, it is considered that due consideration can be given to the 

 impact of the proposal on the village edge and views from public vantage points 

 without the submission of such a document. It is considered that requiring this 

 would not be proportionate or reasonable.  

 

10.87 Regarding a Noise Impact Assessment it is considered that given the stated 

 intention for the use of this area that this would not inherently result in an 

 unacceptable level of noise, and that the potential individual risks (i.e. through 

 amplified music) could be dealt with via condition.  

 

10.88 Regarding  a ventilation statement, no mechanical ventilation has been shown 

 as proposed, but would be conditioned which is considered adequate.  

 

 

 

Page 41



11.  Conclusion: 

 

11.1 The proposal is considered to comply with Local Plan Policies and as such is 

 recommended for permission. 

 

12.  Proposed Conditions:   

 

1. The development shall be started by 3 years from the date of this decision 

notice.  

 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following drawing number(s):  

 

Location Plan 

048_01_300 Rev P4 - Proposed Site Plan 

048_01_301 Rev P4 - Proposed 1F Site Plan 

048_01_302 Rev P4 - Proposed Roof Plan 

048_01_310 Rev P3 - Bedroom 1 & 2 Proposed Floor Plan  

048_01_311 Rev P3 - South Spa Building Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

048_01_312 Rev P4 - North Spa Building Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

048_01_313 Rev P3 - Bedroom 3 Proposed Floor plan  

048_01_314 Rev P2 - Relaxation Room Proposed Plans 

048_02_300 Rev P3 - Proposed Long Section 

048_02_301 Rev P2 - Proposed Site Cross Section  

048_03_300 Rev P2 -Proposed South Elevation Bedroom 1, 2, and 3  

048_03_301 Rev P3 - Proposed North Elevation Bedroom 1, 2, and 3  

048_03_302 Rev P4 - Proposed Elevations Bedrooms 1, 2, and 3 

048_03_303 Rev P3 - Proposed Elevations Wellbeing Studio  

048_03_304 Rev P3 - Proposed Elevations Wellbeing Studio 

048_03_305 Rev P3 - Proposed Elevations Spa  

048_03_306 Rev P3 - Proposed Elevations Spa  

048_03_307 Rev P2 - Proposed Elevations Greenhouse west  

048_03_308 Rev P2 - Proposed Elevations Greenhouse East and South  

 

Reason: For purposes of clarity and for the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 42



3. Prior to the commencement of development, a full surface and foul water 

drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall include details of the size, position and construction of the 

drainage scheme, and results of soakage tests carried out at the site to demonstrate 

the infiltration rate. Three tests should be carried out for each soakage pit as per BRE 

365, with the lowest infiltration rate (expressed in m/s) used for design. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 

first occupation of the development hereby approved. Development shall not take 

place until an exceedance flow routing plan for flows above the 1 in 100 year + 40% 

CC event has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure the proper provision for surface water drainage and/ or to ensure 

flooding is not exacerbated in the locality (National Planning Policy Framework and 

Planning Practice Guidance). If the scope of surface water drainage is not agreed 

before works commence, it could affect either the approved layout or completed 

works. 

 

4. Noise emissions from the site during the development of the site i.e. the 

demolition, clearance and redevelopment of the site, shall not occur outside of the 

following hours where noise is audible at any point at the boundary of any noise 

sensitive dwelling: 

Mon - Fri 08.00 - 18.00 

Sat 08.00 - 13.00 

 

All other times, including Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays there shall be no such 

noise generating activities. 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity on accordance with Local Plan Policy 

EN15. 

 

5. The noise rating level resulting from the use of plant, machinery or equipment 

associated with this permission shall not exceed the existing background level when 

measured according to British Standard BS4142-2014, at the boundary of the nearest 

noise sensitive receptors. 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity on accordance with Local Plan Policy 

EN15. 

 

Page 43



6. No amplified sound shall be operated at the development until a noise 

management plan, including a technical specification and acoustic assessment 

prepared by a suitably qualified person, has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall thereafter be implemented 

and maintained to ensure compliance with the specification 

 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Local Plan Policy 

EN15. 

 

7. No external lighting shall be installed until a lighting scheme has been 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority which specifies the 

provisions to be made for the level of illumination of the site and the control of light 

pollution.  The scheme shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the 

approved details with no additional lighting installed. 

 

Reason:  To prevent light pollution in accordance in accordance with Cotswold District 

Local Plan Policies EN4, EN5 and EN15. 

 

8. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with Cotswold District 

Council's Precautionary Method of Working document. All of the recommendations 

shall be implemented in full according to the specified timescales and thereafter 

permanently retained. 

 

Reason: To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended), the Circular 06/2005, the Protection of Badgers Act 1992, paragraphs 187, 

192 and 193 the National Planning Policy Framework, Local Plan Policy EN8, and in 

order for the Council to comply with Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006. 

 

9. Prior to the construction of any external wall of the development hereby 

approved, samples of the proposed walling, roofing and external paving materials shall 

be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and only the approved 

materials shall be used. 

 

Reason:  To ensure that, in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, 

EN4, EN5, EN10 and EN11, the development will be constructed of materials of a type, 

colour, texture and quality that will be appropriate to the site and its surroundings. 

 

Page 44



10. Prior to the construction of any external wall of the development hereby 

approved, a sample panel(s) of walling of at least one metre square in size showing 

the proposed stone colour, coursing, bonding, treatment of corners, method of 

pointing and mix and colour of mortar (if applicable) shall be erected on the site and 

subsequently approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the walls shall 

be constructed only in the same way as the approved panel and shall be permanently 

retained as such thereafter. The panel shall be retained on site until the completion of 

the development. 

 

Reason:  To ensure that in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, 

EN4, EN5, EN10 and EN11, the development will be constructed of materials of a type, 

colour, texture and quality and in a manner appropriate to the site and its 

surroundings. Further discussions are expected as to whether some or all walling shall 

be pointed or unpointed. Retention of the sample panel(s) on site during the work will 

help to ensure consistency. 

 

11. The oak frames and cladding shall not be stained or painted and shall be left to 

weather and silver naturally and shall be permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, EN4, 

EN5, EN10 and EN11.  

 

12. Prior to the installation of any external doors or windows (including frame 

colour/finish), oak-frames, and the green roofs, in the development hereby approved, 

their design and details (including large scale plans and eaves details) shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

The design and details shall be accompanied by drawings to a minimum scale of 1:5 

with full size moulding cross section profiles, elevations and sections.  The 

development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 

retained as such at all times. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, EN4, 

EN5, EN10 and EN11. 

 

13. New rainwater goods shall be of cast iron construction or a substitute which 

has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be permanently 

retained as such thereafter. 

 

Page 45



Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, 

EN10 and EN11. 

 

14. No bargeboards or eaves fascias shall be used in the proposed development. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, EN4, 

EN5, EN10 and EN11. 

 

15. The new rooflight(s) shall be of a design which, when installed, shall not project 

forward of the roof slope in which the rooflight(s) is/are located and shall be 

permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policies EN2, EN4, 

EN5, EN10 and EN11. 

 

16. The additional bedroom accommodation, wellness centre/spa facilities, and 

associated outside area hereby permitted shall be used solely for purposes ancillary to 

the operation of the hotel as a wellness centre and guest accommodation as shown 

on the approved site plan, and retained as such thereafter. The approved areas shall 

not be used for any other purpose, including (but not limited to) a bar, entertainment 

venue, or any activity likely to cause noise disturbance to guests or neighbouring 

properties. 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is used in a manner consistent with the approved 

use, to protect the amenity of guests and neighbouring occupiers, and to prevent 

activities that could result in noise or disturbance, in accordance with Policy EN15. 

 

17. The wellness buildings, including yoga studio and spa, hereby permitted shall 

not be open to hotel guest or other customers outside the following times 6am and 

9pm.  

 

Reason:  To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or 

working nearby, in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policy EN15. 

 

Page 46



18. Prior to the first use/occupation of the development hereby approved, a 

comprehensive landscape scheme shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  The scheme must show the location, size and condition of all existing trees 

and hedgerows on and adjoining the land and identify those to be retained, together 

with measures for their protection during construction work.  It must show details of 

all planting areas, tree and plant species, numbers and planting sizes. The proposed 

means of enclosure and screening should also be included, together with details of 

any mounding, walls and fences and hard surface materials to be used throughout the 

proposed development.  

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner that is sympathetic to 

the site and its surroundings, and provides boundaries to assist in privacy for 

neighbouring properties, in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policy EN2. 

 

19. All fencing, walling and surfacing shown on the approved landscaping scheme 

shall be carried out prior to the development being brought into use or in accordance 

with an implementation programme first approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

Reason:  To ensure that the hard landscaping is carried out and thereby achieves the 

objective of Cotswold District Local Plan Policy EN2. 

 

20. The entire landscaping scheme shall be completed by the end of the first 

planting season following the completion of the first building on the site. 

 

Reason:  To ensure that the landscaping is carried out and to enable the planting to 

begin to become established at the earliest stage practical and thereby achieving the 

objective of Cotswold District Local Plan Policy EN2. 

 

21. Prior to the commencement of any works on site (including demolition and site 

clearance), a Tree Protection Plan (TPP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The TPP shall be a scaled drawing prepared by an arboriculturalist showing the 

finalised layout proposals, tree retention, tree/landscape protection measures and 

Construction Exclusion Zones (CEZs) - all in accordance with BS5837:2012' Trees in 

relation to design, demolition and construction - recommendations'.  

 

Tree protection measures shown on the TPP must be put in place prior to the 

commencement of any works on site (including demolition and site clearance) and 

shall not be removed without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Page 47



Reason:  To safeguard the retained/protected tree(s) in accordance with Cotswold 

District Local Plan Policy EN7.  It is important that these details are agreed prior to the 

commencement of development as works undertaken during the course of 

construction could have an adverse impact on the well-being of existing trees. 

 

Informatives: 

 

NOTE TO APPLICANT: 

 

1. The Surface Water Drainage scheme should, where possible, incorporate 

Sustainable Drainage Techniques in order to ensure compliance with; 

- Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 27 (1)) 

- Code for sustainable homes - A step-change in sustainable home building practice 

- The local flood risk management strategy published by Gloucestershire County 

Council, as per the Flood and Water  Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 9 (1)) 

- CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual 2015 

- The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England, 

produced by the Environment  Agency in July 2020, pursuant to paragraph 9 of 

Section 7 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

- Updated Planning Practice Guidance on Flood Risk and Coastal Change, published 

on 25th August 2022 by the Environment Agency - 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change 

- Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015) 

 

2. IMPORTANT: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN CONDITION - DEVELOPMENT 

CANNOT COMMENCE UNTIL A BIODIVERSITY GAIN PLAN HAS BEEN SUBMITTED 

(AS A CONDITION COMPLIANCE APPLICATION) TO AND APPROVED BY 

COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL.  

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed 

to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 

development may not begin 

unless: 

 

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 

 

(b) the planning authority has approved the plan in writing. 

 

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change


The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 

Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 

Cotswold District Council. There are statutory exemptions and transitional 

arrangements which mean that the biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. 

Based on the information available this permission is one which will require the 

approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because none of the 

statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply. If the 

onsite habitats include irreplaceable habitats (within the meaning of the Biodiversity 

Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitats) Regulations 2024) there are additional 

requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans. Advice about 

how to prepare a Biodiversity Gain Plan and a template can be found at 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/submit-a-biodiversitygain-plan. 

 

Information on how to discharge the biodiversity gain condition can be found here: 

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-

biodiversity/biodiversity-netgain-bng/ 

 

Cotswold District Council's Precautionary Method of Working document can be found 

here: 

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-

biodiversity/biodiversityspecifications/ 

 

 

  

Page 49

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-biodiversity/biodiversity-netgain-bng/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-biodiversity/biodiversity-netgain-bng/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-biodiversity/biodiversityspecifications/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/wildlife-and-biodiversity/biodiversityspecifications/


This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES – CONSERVATION RESPONSE FORM 

To: Amy Hill. Date: 20th of  November 2025. 

Ref: 25/02175/FUL 

Address: Southrop Estate Office, Southrop, Gloucestershire. 

Proposal: Erection of  three new structured and associated landscaping to provide 
additional spa facilities and hotel accommodation. 

Further comments: 

Principle. 

Setting of nearby listed buildings. 

The application site lies adjacent to the Southrop Lodge (listed as ‘The Lodge’, formerly the 
Vicarage) and the ‘Barn approximately 30 metres to south east of Newmans House’, both of which are 
grade II listed buildings.  It is also within reasonably close proximity to Newman’s House (grade 
II), which lies to the north-west of the site; other listed buildings stand within the wider context, 
such as the Swan Inn & Laurel Cottage to the north, on the further side of Lechlade Road, as well 
as the listed Cowshed at Manor Farm, further to the east. 

 
1876-81, 1:25” Ordnance Survey map.  Application site highlighted red; conservation area highlighted 
green; Southrop Lodge encircled orange; Barn encircled Blue; Newman’s House encircled in purple; 
other listed buildings encircled in yellow. 

Southrop Lodge, to the north-east of the site, is a high-status, early-19th century Vicarage, 
with a defined garden to the south, which runs down the east side of the application site.  The 

Page 51



house itself it at some distance from the site, with limited intervisibility, particularly due to a 
linear range of intervening outbuildings. 

The Barn lies to the west of the site, from which it is separated by a further outbuilding; 
the site of the barn also fronts the open countryside to the south. 

Historic map regression depicts an orchard to the south of the garden of Southrop Lodge; 
the configuration of the surrounding screening planting, and the arrangement of paths and 
access indicates that it formed a part of the wider gardens of the Lodge.  The paddock to the 
west of this, which included the application site, is clearly divided from the orchard, and has no 
indication of any garden use, suggesting a paddock or utilitarian space; however, this paddock is 
clearly enclosed by the same curved boundary that enclosed the orchard, strongly indicating that 
its use was associated with, and within the historic curtilage of Southrop Lodge, rather than forming 
a part of the wider, more open agricultural landscape to the south. 

Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning: Note 3 
advises on the setting of heritage assets, and identifies aspects of setting that can contribute to 
significance.  It lays out a methodology to assess this, including: 

1. Which heritage assets and their settings are affected; 
2. Assess the degree to which these settings make a contribution to the significance of the heritage 

asset(s) or allow significance to be appreciated; 
3. Assess the effects of the proposed development, whether beneficial or harmful, on that significance 

or on the ability to appreciate it; 
4. Explore ways to maximise enhancement and avoid or minimise harm. 

The document also clarifies that change to setting is not in itself intrinsically harmful; 
rather that there has to be harm to an aspect of the setting that contributes towards the asset’s 
significance, in order for a change to be considered harmful. 

Whilst the application site appears to have been historically associated with Southrop 
Lodge, as it still is, it does not appear to have formed a part of the designed pleasure grounds, or 
even the orchard.  Visibility was screened by the historic outbuilding.  Consequently, the 
contribution that the application site makes to the setting and significance of Southrop Lodge is 
modest, and relates more to functional association and its location within the clearly defined, 
curved enclosure. 

The proposed development would maintain a functional association with Southrop Lodge, 
but there would be little direct inter-visibility.  The design of the development is low-key, and 
intended to reflect the more broken, modest levels of quasi-agricultural outbuildings that are 
characteristic of edge-of-settlement sites, along with some discrete, green-roofed contemporary 
structures.  Consequently, it is not considered that the proposed development would cause any 
harm to the setting or significance of Southrop Lodge. 

The Barn which lies to the west comprised a functional, agricultural building, which 
would not have had any form of aesthetically-designed setting.  It lay on an edge-of-settlement 
site, with other structures to the north, east and west, but which bounded the open countryside 
to the south.  The application site, lies to the east, beyond an intervening outbuilding.  The 
application site consequently contributes to the setting and significance only insofar as it forms 
part of the general, edge-or-settlement character of the surroundings. 

Page 52



The proposed development of quasi-agricultural, edge-of-settlement style, and discrete, 
low, green-roofed contemporary buildings, set to the east beyond a further outbuilding, would 
leave the Barn still with edge-of-settlement development around three sides, and a southern 
frontage to the open countryside to the south.  Consequently, it is not considered that the 
proposed development would cause any harm to the setting or significance of the Barn. 

Newman’s House comprises a 17th and 18th century house of some status, with a formal 
frontage onto the road, and a rear wing in a long rear garden.  To the rear of the garden of 
Newman’s House is the existing swimming-pool building associated with Southrop Lodge, a low, 
flat-roofed building with a green roof; the application site lies to the south of this, with little 
shared boundary with Newman’s House.  There is little direct intervisibility between Newman’s 
House and the application site; the only contribution that the site makes to the setting and 
significance of Newman’s House is limited to the general, edge-of-settlement character of the area.  
The proposed development, by virtue of its design, low density, and low scale , would have little 
impact upon Newman’s House, and consequently it is not considered that the proposed 
development would cause any harm to the setting or significance of Newman’s House. 

The other listed buildings within this part of the village are at greater distance to the site, 
which contributes little to their setting or significance, and consequently it is not considered that 
the proposed development would cause any harm to their setting or significance. 

Conservation area. 

The application site lies within the designated conservation, the boundary of which 
follows the original, curved boundary to the south of Southrop Lodge.  The application site is a not 
unattractive open space, which appears to have been associated with, and within the historic 
curtilage of Southrop Lodge, rather than part of the wider agricultural landscape, albeit it a 
functional rather than an aesthetic capacity.  The general character of the immediate context is 
very much edge-of-settlement, with former farm buildings to the west, and the designed pleasure 
grounds and orchard of Southrop Lodge to the east.  The site does not appear to have been 
intentionally, aesthetically designed, and does not contribute to any significant views and is not 
widely visible.  The site contributes to the historic value, character and appearance of the 
conservation area primarily as a space that appears to have been associated with Southrop Lodge, 
and an integral part of the transitional, edge-of-settlement area.  The site is of some aesthetic 
value (fortuitous rather then designed) as an open space; but as it is not widely visible with no 
significant view, it is not an important open space, and as such, makes a very limited contribution 
to the character and appearance of the wider conservation area, other than simply forming a part 
of the general, edge-of-settlement transition between the village and the surrounding 
countryside. 

The proposed development of the site with low-density, sympathetically-designed 
buildings that are intended to either resemble ancillary outbuildings appropriate to a quasi-
agricultural, edge-of-settlement site, and discrete contemporary buildings beneath low, green 
roofs, would reflect and sustain the traditional, edge-of-settlement character of the context, and 
the association with Southrop Lodge would also be sustained.  The loss of the open paddock itself 
would entail some very limited loss of aesthetic (fortuitous) value, although the wider impact 
upon the character, appearance and significance of the conservation area would be negligible.  
Therefore, there may, potentially, be some harm, but this would, at most, be of a very limited 
nature, and at the extreme bottom of the less-than-substantial spectrum.  Any such harm should 
be weighed against any public benefits that would accrue from the proposal in accordance with 
Paragraph 215 of the N.P.P.F. 

Page 53



Design. 

The latest set of  revised drawings do accurately reflect my discussions with the architect, 
and I am now content that they are appropriate, and would cause no harm to either the setting or 
significance of  the nearby listed buildings, or the character, appearance of  significance of  the 
surrounding conservation area. 

 

Recommendation: 

Permit (subject to satisfying the planning balance that there is sufficient public benefit to 
outweigh the at most very slight, less-than-substantial harm). 

 

Suggested conditions: 

• Samples of  all materials. 

• Sample panel of  the stone & pointing. 

• Details of  all external doors and windows. 

• Large-scale details of  eaves & makeup of  flat, green roofs. 

 

From:  

J.A. 

Page 54



Location Plan
Site Address: Thyme - Southrop Estates Ltd, Southrop Estate Office, Southrop Estate, Road From Lechlade Road To Great Lemhill, Southrop, GL7 3PW

Date Produced: 11-Jul-2025 Scale: 1:2500 @A4

Planning Portal Reference: PP-14165109v1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS 100042766

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Site Plan
Scale: 1:2001

BEDROOM 1

BEDROOM 2YOGA STUDIOSAUNAS

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G

EXISTING POOL

TERRACE

TERRACE

SPA POOLS

EXISTING
TREATMENT

ROOMS

RELAXATION
ROOM

SPA RECEPTION

POOL
COURTYARD

SPA
GARDEN

WC WCSTORE

hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_01_300

1:200 @ A3

Proposed Site Plan

Revision

P2 Planning update01.09.25

0m 10m5m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P3 External staircase and bedrom 1 entrance updated01.10.25

P4 Internal sauna and plant space reconfigured. Garden wall added between 
bedroom 2 and yoga studio. Plant cupboard added to north end of spa building.

07.11.25

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Site 1F Plan
Scale: 1:2001

BEDROOM 3

EXISTING POOL

MEADOW SPA

SPA RECEPTION

NEIGHBOUR

POOL

RELAXATION

YOGA

SPA

CHANGING

COURTYARD
COURTYARD

hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_01_301

1:200 @ A3

Proposed 1F Site Plan

Revision

0m 10m5m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP2 Planning update01.09.25

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P3 External staircase and bedrom 3 entrance updated01.10.25

P4 Plant cupboard added to north end of spa building.07.11.25

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Site Roof Plan
Scale: 1:2001

EXISTING POOL

MEADOW SPA

SPA RECEPTION

NEIGHBOUR

POOL

RELAXATION

YOGA

SPA

CHANGING

COURTYARD
COURTYARD

FIELD ROOM

FIELD ROOM

hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_01_302

1:200 @ A3

Proposed Roof Plan

Revision

0m 10m5m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP2 Planning update01.09.25

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P3 External staircase and bedroom 3 rooflight updated01.10.25

P4 Plant cupboard added to north end of spa building.07.11.25

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

RevisionNote:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_02_300

1:125 @ A3

Proposed Long Section

Longitudinal Site Section
Scale: 1:1251

P1 Planning issue01.07.25
0m 6.25m2.5m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 Garden wall added between bedroom 2 and yoga studio. Plant cupbaord added to 
north end of spa building

07.11.25

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_02_301

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Site Cross Section

Site Cross Section
Scale: 1:1001

Revision

0m 6.25m2.5m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_300

1:100 @ A3

Proposed South Elevation
Bedroom 1, 2, and 3

Bedroom 1, 2 & 3 South Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Stone roof tiles
Rubble 

stone walls

Glazed link Bio-diverse
green roof

Stone roof tiles
Minimal frame

glazing

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_301

1:100 @ A3

Bedroom 1, 2 & 3 North Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Stone roof tiles
Rubble 

stone walls

Bio-diverse
green roof

Stone roof tiles
Minimal frame

glazing

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

Proposed North Elevation
Bedroom 1, 2, and 3

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 External staircase and 1F entrance updated01.10.25

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_302

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Bedrooms 1, 2, and 3

Bedrooms 1, 2 & West Elevation
Scale: 1:1003

Bedrooms 1, 2 & 3 East Elevation
Scale: 1:1002Bedrooms 1, 2 & 3 Gable Elevation

Scale: 1:1001

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 External staircase, bedroom 1 entrance, dormer and rooflight updated01.10.25

P4 High-level arrow slot window omitted from bedroom 2 west elevation07.11.25

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_306

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Spa

Spa South Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Bio-diverse
green roof

Oak post and beam
structure

Flush glazing
behind oak frame

Oak timber
cladding

Spa West Elevation
Scale: 1:1002

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 Plant cupboard added to north end of spa building07.11.25

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_305

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Spa

Spa North Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Bio-diverse
green roof

Oak post and beam
structure

Flush glazing
behind oak frame

Spa East Elevation
Scale: 1:1002

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 Plant cupboard added to north end of spa building07.11.25

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_303

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Wellbeing Studio

Wellbeing Studio South Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Rubblestone walls

Wellbeing Studio East Elevation
Scale: 1:1002

Slate tile roofMinimal frame glazingRubblestone walls

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 Yoga studio lintel detail updated01.10.25

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_304

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Wellbeing Studio

Wellbeing Studio North Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Wellbeing Studio West Elevation
Scale: 1:1002

Slate tile roof
Rubblestone walls

Stone Wall

Estate Fencing

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NXP1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 Planning update01.09.25

P3 Garden wall added to end of wellbeing studio. Estate Fencing aded to rear of 
wellbeing studio. 

07.11.25

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_307

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Greenhouse west

Relaxation Room West Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Bio-diverse
green roof

Oak post and beam
structure

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

Listed Building Consent Issue

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 01.09.25

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



hello@tawfitzwilliam.com  |  01865 806 076  |  www.tawfitzwilliam.com

Note:

All levels and dimensions to be site surveyed and confirmed by the contractor. 
Any discrepancies are to be reported to the Architect. See also architectural 
details, mechanical and electrical intent layout and structural engineers drawings 
and specifications. Door and windows manufacturer to produce shop drawings 
for comment before manufacture.
All details are intent only, to be finalised by the contractor. Drawings subject to 
statutory approvals.

048_03_308

1:100 @ A3

Proposed Elevations
Greenhouse East and South

Relaxation Room East Elevation
Scale: 1:1001

Oak post and beam
structure Stone chimney

Relaxation Room South Elevation
Scale: 1:1002

Revision

0m 5m2m

Thyme Spa Buildings
Thyme
Southrop
Lechlade 
GL7 3NX

Listed Building Consent Issue

P1 Planning issue01.07.25

P2 01.09.25

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Erection of glazed extension to curtilage listed building at Thyme - Southrop 

Estate Office Southrop Estate Southrop Lechlade Gloucestershire GL7 3PW  

 

Listed Building Consent 

25/02722/LBC 

Applicant: Southrop Estates Ltd 

Agent: Taw Fitzwilliam 

Case Officer: Amy Hill 

Ward Member(s): Councillor David Fowles   

Committee Date: 10 December 2025 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

PERMIT 

 

 

1. Main Issues: 

 

(a)  Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 

 

2. Reasons for Referral: 

 

2.1 Cllr Fowles requested that the full planning application be considered by the 

 Review Panel for referral to the Planning & Licensing Committee, for the 

 following reason(s): 

 

2.1.1 This site has a long history of applications from when it first started 

trading as a cookery school and in addition to developing the current business, 

the pub has been bought and a number of other residential properties have 

also been acquired. The business has very little engagement with the village 

either by virtue of generating local employment or providing locals with a 

leisure amenity. Indeed the applicant has stated that the key reason for wanting 

to develop the spa is so Thyme can compete at the very top of the leisure and 

hotel sector 

 

2.1.2 There is real concern that historic applications that were granted consent 

have not had the conditions properly complied with ie 19/04203/FUL and 

17/01018/FUL. I believe that the enforcement team need to look into these two 

applications 

 

2.1.3 In particular there is a real highway safety issue in Southrop as a result 

of the opening of the overflow car park which is now the only operational car 

park. The impact on the village is not anecdotal but can be measured via the 

recently introduced speed cameras  

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



2.1.4 The proposed development will have a dramatic effect on the 

conservation area and the surrounding listed buildings. It will be visible from 

the road and footpaths.  

 

2.1.5 There is concern about noise and light pollution, in particular the plant 

room which is located right on the boundary of a neighbour's property. In 

addition three more bedrooms are proposed very close to a neighbouring 

property. This is not a business which shuts at 5.30pm. It operates 24/7.  

 

2.1.6 Finally, whilst everyone understands that this application should be 

judged on its merits, it is not unreasonable to assume that further applications 

will be made 

 

2.2 The associated listed building consent application was brought before the 

 Review Panel for completeness.  

 

2.3 The Review Panel agreed the request for the application to be considered at 

 the Planning and Licensing Committee, as it was necessary to consider and 

 balance the potential harm to the Conservation Area and surrounding listed 

 buildings, and the potential amenity impacts upon the neighbouring residents, 

 as required by local and national policy. 

 

3.  Site Description: 

 

3.1 The wider site comprises Thyme, a collection of converted and extended 

 agricultural buildings which form a hotel, spa and restaurant. The site is located 

 within the village of Southrop, with access to Thyme via a road which also serves 

 Southrop Manor and St Peters Church. It has a second main entrance with 

 parking area to the south east of the village.  

 

3.2 The converted agricultural buildings are Grade II listed and lie adjacent to the 

 Grade I listed St Peters Church, with Southrop Manor, a Grade II* listed building 

 beyond.  

 

3.3 To the west of the aforementioned buildings, Thyme has incorporated other 

 buildings, mostly used as accommodation. To the northeast of this is Southrop 

 Lodge, a grade II listed building (listed as The Lodge), also run by Thyme.   

 

3.4 The site which is subject to this application comprises land to the south of Stable 

 Cottage (curtilage listed) and the area of land to the western side of it. There is 

 an outdoor swimming pool and associated outbuilding to the north. To the west 

Page 86



 of the site, outside the boundaries of Thyme is another Grade II listed barn 

 (currently known as The Dovecote) and the Grade II listed Newmans House.  

 

3.5 A Public Right of Way (Southrop Footpath 7) bisects Thyme through its 

 courtyard, separating the main historic barns from the application site. This 

 continues to the south of the site through open fields. Additionally, Southrop 

 Footpaths 8 and 9 run through the field to the south of the application site.   

 

3.6 The site is located within the Southrop Conservation Area and Cotswolds 

 National Landscape.  

 

4.  Relevant Planning History: 

 

4.1 There is extensive planning history on the wider site.  

 

4.2 The main applications relating to the conversion of the farm buildings include: 

 

4.3 15/04754/FUL - Change of use of the Granary, Ox Barn, Lambing Sheds and 

 Pigsties, Haybarn and associated land from part agricultural, equestrian, D1, D2, 

 and B1 use classes to a composite use comprising A3 (food and drink), C1 

 (hotel), D1 (treatment and wellbeing/lectures/courses) and D2 (social events) 

 use classes. Replacement of former barns to provide guest bedrooms. 

 Construction of treatment and wellbeing buildings and the change of use of 

 equestrian riding arena and other land, part to include overflow car parking, 

 associated landscaping and all other associated works - Permitted - 17.06.2016 

 

4.4 17/01013/FUL - Restoration, repair and reuse of existing buildings, including 

 works to the Granary, Ox Barn, Lambing Sheds and Pigsties, the conversion of 

 the Hay Barn to form ancillary kitchen and staff areas, the rebuilding of former 

 barns as guest bedrooms, the change of use of an equestrian riding arena and 

 other land, part to include overflow car parking, the planting of an orchard, 

 landscaping and all other associated works; including the change of use from 

 part agricultural, equestrian, D1, D2, and B1 use classes to a composite use 

 comprising A3, C1, D1 and D2 use classes (Amended Application) - Permitted - 

 04.05.2017 

 

Southrop Lodge: 

 

4.5 16/04027/FUL - Change of use from residential (C3 use) to a mixed 

 residential/hotel (C3/C1 use) together with associated minor works and change 

 of use and conversion of the Hay Barn to ancillary hotel areas (reception and 

 ancillary offices - C1 use) - Permitted - 25.11.2016 

Page 87



4.6 17/01018/FUL - Change of use of Southrop Lodge from residential (C3 use) to 

 a mixed residential/hotel (C3/C1 use) together with associated minor works and 

 structures [Amended Scheme] - Permitted - 04.05.2017 

 

4.7 It is noted that the site is located within the red line boundary on the site 

 location plan for the above application.  

 

5.  Planning Policies: 

 

• TNPPF  The National Planning Policy Framework 

 

6.  Observations of Consultees: 

 

6.1 Conservation Officer: 2nd October 2025: No objections 

 

6.2 Biodiversity Officer: No objections 

 

6.3 Flood Risk Management Officer:  Additional information or pre-

 commencement condition sought 

 

7.  View of Town/Parish Council: 

 

7.1 None received directly on the Listed Building Consent application 

  

8.  Other Representations: 

 

8.1 2 third party representations have been received, objecting to the application 

 on the grounds of: 

 

i. Reiteration of concerns raised on the full planning application 

ii. Proposal would harm Southrop's heritage, setting of listed buildings 

 and Conservation Area 

iii. Unsympathetic and overdevelopment 

iv. Proposed designs not vernacular, unsympathetic and out of character 

v. Proposal would harm Stable Cottage 

 

8.2 4 third party representations have been received, supporting the application 

 on the grounds of: 

 

i. Enhancement to existing facilities 

ii. Opportunities for local employment and local business to work in 

 partnership 

iii. Approval of works previously undertaken 

Page 88



iv. Need for continued investment 

v. Design 

vi. Impact on Conservation Area 

vii. Highways and parking (majority of traffic issues not caused by Thyme) 

viii. Advantage of having facilities in village  

 

9.  Applicant's Supporting Information: 

 

• Heritage Statement, dated August 2025 

• Biodiversity Self-Assessment Form, dated 18/07/2025 

 

10.  Officer's Assessment: 

 

Background and Proposed Development 

 

10.1 The proposal involves the erection of a single-storey extension to provide a 

 relaxation room. The extension would be a heavily glazed green flat roofed 

 structure. It would extend to the side of the cottage by approximately 7.2m with 

 a depth of approximately 4.2m. The main roof would have a height of 2.9m, 

 with a stone chimney extending to 3.2m. 

 

(a)  Design and Impact on Heritage Assets 

 

10.2 Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

 1990 states that when considering whether to grant listed building consent for 

 development which affects a listed building or its setting, the Local Planning 

 Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 

 or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

 possesses.  

 

10.3 Considerable weight and importance must be given to the aforementioned 

 legislation. 

 

10.4 Section 12 of the NPPF seeks to achieve well designed places. Section 16 of the 

 NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the historic environment. Paragraph 212 

 states that when considering the impact of the proposed works on the 

 significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 

 asset's conservation.  Paragraph 213 states that any harm to or loss of 

 significance, through alteration or development within the asset's setting 

 should require clear and convincing justification.  Paragraph 215 states that 

 where proposals will cause harm to the significance of a designated heritage 

 asset that is less than substantial harm, that harm is weighed against the public 

 benefits of those works. 

Page 89



10.5 Further guidance is available within the Cotswold Design Code, the National 

 Design Guide, and Historic England's Historic Environment Good Practice 

 Advice in Planning: Note 3. 

 

10.6 With regard to the setting of listed buildings, the site is considered to have 

 former part of the wider garden area of Southrop Lodge. Whilst the proposal in 

 linked to Stable Cottage, the design would result in the appearance of a distinct, 

 albeit abutting garden structure, rather than an extension. This would include 

 limited physical alterations of the cottage. The boundary wall would have an 

 entrance added, and section rebuilt, however, the works would retain the form 

 and significance as a boundary between Southrop Lodge and the field. Overall, 

 the approach is considered sensitive to the curtilage listed building onto which 

 it would be attached and the setting of The Lodge, and to therefore preserve 

 the building and its setting. It is recommended that details, such as eaves, are 

 agreed by condition.  

 

10.7 The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the design and heritage 

 considerations of Sections 12 and 16 of the NPPF.  

 

11.  Conclusion: 

 

11.1 The proposal is considered to comply with the above considerations and as 

 such is recommended for consent. 

 

12.  Proposed Conditions:  

 

1. The development shall be started by 3 years from the date of this decision 

notice.  

 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. Prior to the construction of any external wall of the development hereby 

approved, samples of the proposed walling, roofing and external paving materials shall 

be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and only the approved 

materials shall be used. 

 

Page 90



Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and to safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of architectural 

or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

3. Prior to the construction of any external wall of the development hereby 

approved, a sample panel(s) of walling of at least one metre square in size showing 

the proposed stone colour, coursing, bonding, treatment of corners, method of 

pointing and mix and colour of mortar (if applicable) shall be erected on the site and 

subsequently approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the walls shall 

be constructed only in the same way as the approved panel and shall be permanently 

retained as such thereafter. The panel shall be retained on site until the completion of 

the development. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and to safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of architectural 

or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

4. The oak frames and cladding shall not be stained or painted and shall be left to 

weather and silver naturally and shall be permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and to safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of architectural 

or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

5. Prior to the installation of any external doors or windows (including frame 

colour/finish), oak-frames, and the green roofs, in the development hereby approved, 

their design and details (including large scale plans and eaves details) shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

The design and details shall be accompanied by drawings to a minimum scale of 1:5 

with full size moulding cross section profiles, elevations and sections.  The 

development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 

retained as such at all times. 

 

Page 91



Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and to safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of architectural 

or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

6. New rainwater goods shall be of cast iron construction or a substitute which 

has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be permanently 

retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner sympathetic to the site 

and to safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of architectural 

or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic interest 

which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

7. No bargeboards or eaves fascias shall be used in the proposed development. 

 

Reason:  To safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of 

architectural or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic 

interest which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 

8. The new rooflight(s) shall be of a design which, when installed, shall not project 

forward of the roof slope in which the rooflight(s) is/are located and shall be 

permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason:  To safeguard the character of the building, which is listed as being of 

architectural or historic interest, thereby preserving the special architectural or historic 

interest which it possesses in accordance with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 

Informatives: 

 

1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following drawing number(s):  

 

Location Plan 

048_01_314 Rev P2 - Relaxation Room Proposed Plans 

048_03_307 Rev P2 - Proposed Elevations Greenhouse west  

Page 92



048_03_308 Rev P2 - Proposed Elevations Greenhouse East and South  

 

Reason: For purposes of clarity and for the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Construction of an outdoor riding arena and associated landscaping works to 

include on-site BNG at Talland School of Equitation Ampney Knowle Barnsley 

Cirencester Gloucestershire  GL7 5FD  

 

Full Application 

25/01951/FUL 

Applicant: The Talland School Of Equitation 

Agent: Greenslade Taylor Hunt 

Case Officer: Ceri Porter 

Ward Member(s): Councillor Lisa Spivey   

Committee Date: 10 December 2025 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

PERMIT subject to completion of a S106 legal 

agreement covering Biodiversity Net Gain     

               

 

1. Main Issues: 

 

(a)  Principle of Development  

(b)  Design & Impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape  

(c)  Impact on Residential Amenity 

(d)  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

(e)  Drainage 

 

2. Reasons for Referral: 

 

2.1 This application is referred to Planning & Licensing Committee because it 

 involves the development of more than 1 hectare of land (including onsite 

 Biodiversity Net Gain).  

 

3.  Site Description: 

 

3.1 The application site is located to the northeast of Cirencester, in the countryside, 

 and comprises of an equestrian paddock that forms part of the Talland School 

 of Equitation, a long-established equestrian centre. The paddock is located 

 directly to the west of the existing complex of school buildings. This includes an 

 indoor school (with ancillary offices and student accommodation), outdoor 

 school, stabling and Talland House where the applicants live.  

 

3.2 The paddock slopes downhill from the south-east to north-west. To the 

 southeast corner is the existing school complex with fields to the remaining 

 three boundaries. Beyond the field to the northwest is the B4425 that leads to 

 Barnsley. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



 

3.3 The school itself is accessed via a private gated drive off Akeman Street with a 

 large vehicle parking area to the east of the school buildings. 

 

4.  Relevant Planning History: 

 

4.1 03/02019/FUL - Equestrian Centre - 2 indoor riding arenas; 1 outdoor arena; 1 

 stable block for 70 horses; single storey student accommodation; storage barn 

 and 1 two storey dwelling - Approved 05.08.2004 

 

4.2 05/00635/FUL - Equestrian centre - revised scheme in respect of the addition 

 of the student accommodation block as an extension to the arena building 

 and revisions to the dwellinghouse - Approved 27 May 2005 

 

5.  Planning Policies: 

 

• NPPF  National Planning Policy Framework 

• CNL  CNL Management Plan 

• CDCLP  CDC LOCAL PLAN 2011-2031 

• EN1  Built, Natural & Historic Environment 

• EN2  Design of Built & Natural Environment 

• EN4  The Wider Natural & Historic Landscape 

• EN5  Cotswolds AONB 

• EN8  Bio & Geo: Features Habitats & Species 

• EN14  Managing Flood Risk 

• EC3  All types of Employment-generating Uses 

• INF4  Highway Safety 

• INF5  Parking Provision 

 

6.  Observations of Consultees: 

 

6.1 County Archaeologist - Given site is located some distance from nearest 

 scheduled ancient monument at Barnsley Park; there is no need for 

 archaeological investigations in relation to this application. 

 

6.2 Biodiversity Officer - Following submission of additional/revised information, 

 the proposal is satisfactory and would meet the requirements of the BNG 

 condition. Recommend permission subject to conditions and the completion 

 of a S106 agreement to secure the BNG monitoring fees. 

 

7.  View of Town/Parish Council: 

 

7.1 No response received to date. 

Page 96



8.  Other Representations: 

 

8.1 10 third party representations have been received (3 from the same address), 

 supporting the application on the grounds of: 

 

• Talland is internationally recognised for producing elite riders and is a respected 

BHS exam centre. 

• Talland serves riders of all ages and abilities, from beginners to international 

and Paralympic athletes. 

• The school is home to a well-run RDA (Riding for the Disabled Association) 

group. 

• Riders with disabilities, including blind and para dressage athletes, benefit from 

tailored support and world-class coaching 

• It is a vital hub for the equestrian community, offering inclusive access to high-

quality training and therapy. 

• There is increasing demand for Talland's services, with more riders seeking 

access to its facilities and expertise. 

• The new arena would help accommodate this growth safely and effectively. 

• More visitors for training and courses would benefit local businesses (e.g., 

accommodation, food). 

• The expansion supports a multi-generational, family-run business with deep 

roots in the community. 

• The additional arena would: 

• Reduce pressure on existing arenas. 

• Allow for dedicated jump training and more efficient scheduling. 

• Improve horse welfare through better surfaces and reduced strain. 

• Support British Horse Society exams and CPD training without disrupting 

daily operations. 

• Horse riding provides significant physical and mental health benefits. 

• The school's programs promote confidence, rehabilitation, and emotional 

wellbeing. 

 

9.  Applicant's Supporting Information: 

 

• Additional Ecological Information (Avondale Ecology, dated 29 August 

2025) 

• Post Development Habitat Plan - Received 2nd September 2025 

• Planning Statement (inc. Flood Risk Assessment) (GTH, 1st My 2025) 

 

10.  Officer's Assessment: 

 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 'If 

 regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

Page 97



 determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 

 made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

 otherwise.'   

 

10.2 The starting point for the determination of this application is therefore the 

 current development plan for the District which is the adopted Cotswold District 

 Local Plan 2011 - 2031. 

 

10.3 The policies and guidance within the revised National Planning Policy 

 Framework (NPPF) are also a material planning consideration. 

 

Background 

 

10.4 Talland School of Equitation is a British Horse Society (BHS) and Association of 

 British  Riding Schools (ABRS) approved training, assessment and livery centre 

 that offers lessons for beginners  through to accomplished riders in dressage, 

 cross-country and show jumping. It is a family run business founded by Molly 

 Sivewright in 1958. In 2024, the school celebrated its 66th year of training 

 students for their equestrian qualifications. It is also host to one of the oldest 

 Riding for the Disabled Association groups in the UK. 

 

10.5 Talland is one of the largest Equestrian Centres in the UK, offering a wide variety 

 of training opportunities, from  beginner and grassroots levels, to Advanced 

 Olympic and paralympic training. Talland is a Home Office approved Student 

 Sponsor and is the only UK Riding School who can legally offer training for 

 those at Ofqual Level 3 and above to international Students. As of April 2025, 

 Talland currently has approximately 19 students enrolled on full time courses 

 and hosts approximately 250 riding lessons per week. 

 

Proposed Development 

 

10.6 Planning permission is sought for an 80m x 80m outdoor arena. The arena 

 would consist of a stone subbase with sand and fibre top layer all set on a woven 

 porous geotextile membrane. It would then be enclosed with a 1.6m high 

 timber post and rail fence. No external lighting is proposed. 

 

10.7 As the existing field is sloped, part of the proposal includes landscaping works 

 to raise levels at the south-eastern corner so that the arena area is flat and at a 

 similar level to the existing adjacent school facilities. The ground level would 

 raise 7.5m at its highest and reduce, towards the north west, over a distance of 

 115m to rejoin the existing levels. To the north east, an increase in height of 

 approximately 2m would reduce to existing levels over a distance of 30m. The 

Page 98



 new slopes are proposed to be grassed. To the north-west, south-west and east 

 boundaries it is proposed to plant trees within grassland as part of Biodiversity 

 Net Gain (BNG). 

 

(a)  Principle of Development 

 

Economic Development in a Rural Area 

 

10.8 There is no specific equestrian development policy within the adopted Local 

 Plan, however the most relevant policy is considered to be EC3 ‘Proposals for 

 all Types of Employment-Generating Uses’ 

 

10.9 Policy EC3 supports small scale employment appropriate to a rural area where 

 it does not entail a non-ancillary residential use and is demonstrated by a 

 business case or where it facilitates the retention or growth of a local 

 employment opportunity. In addition, paragraph 88 of the National Planning 

 Policy Framework (NPPF) refers to policies and decisions supporting a 

 prosperous rural economy with criterion (b) enabling the development and 

 diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses. 

  

10.10 The school is currently limited by the area in which training can take place safely. 

 The school aspires to be an industry leader. This proposed arena would enable 

 the school to house a variety of training and competition opportunities in terms 

 of dressage, show jumping, or adequate facilities to house Arena Eventing 

 courses. It would enable the school to offer these services year-round, in 

 addition to their current provision. The proposal would assist the viability of an 

 established equestrian business in accordance with the aspirations of Local Plan 

 Policy EC3 and paragraph 88 of the NPPF.  

 

10.11 Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would benefit a local 

 employment provider and the rural economy. The proposal would also not 

 conflict with the use of the site. 

 

(b)  Design & Impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape (Area of 

 Outstanding Natural Beauty) 

 

10.12 The site is located within the Cotswolds National Landscape (Area of 

 Outstanding Natural Beauty). Section 85(A1) of the Countryside and Rights of 

 Way (CROW) Act 2000 (as amended by Section 245 of the Levelling-up and 

 Regeneration Act 2023) states that relevant authorities have a duty to seek to 

 further the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area 

 of outstanding natural beauty. 

 

Page 99



10.13 The following policies and guidance are considered applicable to this proposal: 

 

10.14 Local Plan Policy EN2 Design of the Built and Natural Environment 

 

'Development will be permitted which accords with the Cotswold Design Code. 

Proposals should be of design quality that respects the character and distinctive 

appearance of the locality.' 

 

10.15 Local Plan Policy EN4 The Wider Natural and Historic Landscape  

 

1. 'Development will be permitted where it does not have a significant 

detrimental impact on the natural and historic landscape (including the 

tranquillity of the countryside) of Cotswold District or neighbouring areas. 

 

2. Proposals will take account of landscape and historic landscape 

character, visual quality and local distinctiveness. They will be expected to 

enhance, restore and better manage the natural and historic landscape, and any 

significant landscape features and elements, including key views, the setting of 

settlements, settlement patterns and heritage assets.' 

 

10.16 Local Plan Policy EN5 Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)  

 

1.' In determining development proposals within the AONB or its setting, 

the conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty of the landscape, its 

character and special qualities will be given great weight. 

 

2.  Major development will not be permitted within the AONB unless it 

satisfies the exceptions set out in National Policy and Guidance.' 

 

10.17 The Cotswold Landscape Character Assessment (CLCA) identifies the site as 

 lying within the Landscape Character Type (LCT) 11 Dip-Slope Lowland and the 

 Landscape Character Area (LCA) 11a, South and Mid Cotswolds Lowlands. 

 

10.18 The LCT and LCA are characterised by predominantly gently sloping, undulating 

 lowland with a predominantly south-easterly fall, and provides the final 

 transition between the high Cotswold country and the Thames Valley. The 

 lowland form is gently, although infrequently, dissected by small watercourses, 

 with the overall impression of a well-managed, productive landscape of mixed 

 arable and improved pasture. Medium to large scale regular fields enclosed by 

 hedgerows predominate, although fences and stone walls are not entirely 

 absent. Intermittent small villages and isolated farmsteads define the pattern of 

 settlement, although there are some larger settlements present. There are also 

Page 100



 a distinctive pattern of large estates and their associated parks and woodland, 

 some of which are of national importance. Otherwise, woodland is limited to 

 isolated copses and shelter belts. The school of equitation appears as a 

 ‘farmstead’ with a belt of woodland to the east. The paddocks to the west of 

 the buildings that includes the site,  

 

10.19 The CLCA identifies the development, expansion and infilling of settlements 

 within and on to the Dip-Slope Lowland, including a proliferation of equestrian 

 establishments and paddocks as a Local Force for Change. The CLCA states that 

 the Potential Landscape Implications of such development can include: 

 

• Proliferation of stables and other visual clutter such as ribbon fences, jumps, 

horse boxes, shelters manège and lighting associated with ‘horsiculture’ 

• Creation of paddocks by sub-dividing fields using non-characteristic field 

boundary treatments such as post and rail fence or ribbon fences 

• Erosion of the rural landscape 

• Deterioration in pasture quality and over grazing 

• Pressure to provide new housing for staff and owners 

• Creation of surfaced tracks, new and enlarged field entrances and parking 

areas for cars and horse boxes etc. 

• Excessive use of local roads and paths by horses, in part due to no direct or 

close connections to bridleways etc. 

• Increase in vehicle movements and roadside parking 

• Damage to road verges 

 

10.20 The LCA's Landscape Strategies and Guidelines section includes: 

 

• New structures should be carefully sited and designed to minimize their 

impact on the landscape. Wherever possible they should be located close to 

existing buildings. They should be constructed from appropriate vernacular 

materials and should follow the form of the landscape, avoiding prominent 

skyline sites and slopes 

• Jumps, temporary fences and other equipment should be well maintained 

and removed when not in use. 

• Any lighting should be designed to minimise light pollution, e.g. low level 

and directed downwards and fitted with timers. 

• Oppose change of use for the ‘keeping of horses’ in visually prominent 

locations. 

• A concentration of horse paddocks and associated structures in any one 

area can have a cumulative harmful impact on landscape character and 

should be avoided 

Page 101



• Where pastures need to be subdivided into smaller paddocks, temporary 

electric fencing is better than more permanent structures and offers greater 

flexibility in pasture management. Post and rail should be avoided. 

• Encourage the use of olive green tape, wider spacing of fence posts etc  

• Historic field boundaries, such as hedges, walls and fences should be 

maintained or extended, and new boundaries should match the local 

vernacular wherever possible.  

• Ensure authorisation is obtained from the highway authority for new gates 

or stiles on public rights of way In some instances, hedges and dry stone 

walls may need protection by fencing to prevent damage 

• Jumps, temporary fences and other equipment should be well maintained 

and removed when not in use. 

• Existing gates and access points should be retained if possible, and new 

gates should match the local vernacular 

 

10.21 In this instance, the proposed outdoor school would be positioned in a discrete 

 location, alongside the existing equestrian complex of buildings. Long range 

 public views of the site are limited to from the west with views from the B4425 

 restricted because the road is set at a much lower than the school. Views of the 

 existing complex are however available from the lane directly to the east 

 however the site of the proposed outdoor arena would be behind the complex 

 and would not be visible from this direction. Ampney Crucis Footpath 8 runs 

 approximately 275m further to the east with limited views of the existing school 

 possible. 

 

10.22 As such principal views of the proposed development would be from within the 

 site where the outdoor arena would be seen in the context of the wider 

 equestrian facility. 

 

10.23 The proposal would involve the regrading of the existing paddock to create the 

 flat area for schooling with the slopes tapering back to rejoin the existing land 

 levels. Whilst the ground would be raised over 7.5m at its highest point, the 

 reduction in levels would be spread over a large area. To ensure the ground 

 works are carried out in accordance with these levels, the finished level of the 

 outdoor arena is recommended to be conditioned. Once grassed, these would 

 appear from outside the site as existing and would not be considered to appear 

 as incongruous or as an inappropriate form of development within the existing 

 equestrian paddocks. To ensure landscaping is carried out in an appropriate 

 form, a landscaping strategy condition is also recommended.  

 

10.24 It is also of note that the proposal would not include lighting and a condition 

 on any permission would ensure this remains. 

Page 102



10.25 Overall, the introduction of an outdoor arena in this location, physically and 

 perceptually linked with the existing equestrian facility, would blend with the 

 existing landform and ensure that the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 

 National Landscape is furthered. 

 

(c) Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

10.26 The Design Code (Appendix D) referred to in Policy EN2 of the Local Plan sets 

 out guidance in respect of residential amenity. 

 

10.27 The proposal relates to an existing equestrian facility. There are no immediate 

 neighbours that could be adversely affected by the physical works in terms of 

 being overbearing or resulting in loss of light or privacy. Furthermore, there 

 would be no external lighting and the land is already in equestrian use forming 

 part of the existing school. 

 

10.28 Given the nature of the proposal, on an existing equestrian site, and distance to 

 nearest neighbours, it is considered that there would be no impact upon 

 neighbouring residential amenity. 

 

(d)  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

10.29 Every grant of planning permission in England is deemed to have been granted 

 subject to the biodiversity gain condition, commencement and transitional 

 arrangements, as well as exemptions, mean that certain permissions are not 

 subject to biodiversity net gain. 

 

10.30 Initially, concern was raised that there was insufficient information to 

 demonstrate that BNG could be delivered. Following the submission of further 

 information and an amended habitat creation scheme it has been 

 demonstrated that good target condition can be achieved. Given that the 

 proposals include the delivery of on-site habitats to achieve good target 

 condition, these are considered to be 'significant on-site gains, therefore any 

 permission would require a S106 agreement to secure monitoring fees. 

 

 Protected Species 

 

10.31 Section 5.1.1 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and BNG report (Avondale 

 Ecology,  

 

Page 103



10.32 As recommended in the PEA, a Construction Ecological Management Plan 

 (CEMP) should be produced to safeguard trees and hedgerows adjacent to the 

 site, and to safeguard nearby water bodies during works. A condition is 

 recommended to secure a CEMP prior to the commencement of development. 

 The applicants have agreed to this being pre-commencement. 

 

10.33 In respect of Great Crested Newts (GCN), the site is located within the red and 

 amber impact risk zones as identified by the Great Crested Newt District 

 Licensing scheme. There are also four water bodies within 250m of the site. The 

 submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal states that WB1, approximately 

 100m from the site, tested positive for GCN presence, established through 

 eDNA survey. Given this it was initially considered that a District Licence would 

 be required.  

 

10.34 Additional information regarding GCN was subsequently submitted including 

 proposed outline mitigation methods provided in a letter from Avondale 

 Ecology (29th August 2025). This information has demonstrated sufficiently that 

 the risk to GCN is likely to be low, and the development can proceed without a 

 licence. A site-specific mitigation section for GCN including relevant details and 

 methods to safeguard GCN is recommended to be included within the CEMP 

 condition. 

 

(e)  Drainage  

 

10.35 Policy EN14 of the adopted Local Plan refers to managing flood risk and states 

 that development should avoid areas at flood risk, minimise flood risk  and 

 ensure that the proposed development is safe for its lifetime, does not increase 

 risk elsewhere. 

  

10.36 The site is wholly located within Flood Zone 1 which is defined as land to be at 

 a low risk of flooding. The site is also not within an area at an increased risk 

 from surface water flooding, ground water flooding or reservoir flooding.  

 

10.37 The application seeks planning permission for the construction of an outdoor 

 riding arena that would not result in new impermeable surfaces. By its very 

 nature, the surface of the arena would be permeable, with perforated drainage 

 pipes leading to a large soakaway area.  

 

10.38 The site is in equestrian use and would remain in equestrian use with no 

 increase in vulnerability and it is considered that the proposed development 

 would be safe for its lifetime and would not increase the risk of flooding 

 elsewhere 

Page 104



Other Matters 

 

10.39 In terms of highway safety and parking, the existing access has good 

 visibility, and the parking area is informal but of a large capacity. The proposal 

 involves no changes to the existing access to the site or loss of parking. 

 

10.40 The proposed development is not liable for a charge under the Community 

 Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended). This is because it is less 

 than 100m2 of new build that does not result in the creation of a dwelling. 

 

11.  Conclusion: 

 

11.1 Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would assist a rural 

 business to the benefit of the local economy. Whilst the proposal would 

 increase the height of land to accommodate the outdoor school, it’s location 

 and simple form would not harm the National Landscape. It is therefore 

 recommended that the application is granted permission subject to the 

 conditions outlined and the completion of a S106 agreement to secure the on-

 site monitoring costs for BNG. 

 

12.  Proposed Conditions:  

 

1. The development shall be started by 3 years from the date of this decision 

notice.  

 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in strict accordance 

with the following approved plans: DR-A-080-001, DR-A-080-003 and DR-A-080-004 

 

Reason: For purposes of clarity and for the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

3. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works and 

vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan - 

Biodiversity (CEMPB) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. The CEMP-B shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the 

following:  

 

i. Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;  

ii. Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones';  

Page 105



iii. Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

statements);  

iv. Details of measures to protect trees, hedgerows and nearby waterbodies during 

works; 

v. Details of site-specific mitigation measures required to safeguard Great Crested 

Newts during development including, but not limited to; toolbox talks, preclearance 

site checks, details of exclusion fencing to be used during the development and the 

roles and responsibilities of a suitably qualified and experienced Ecological Clerk of 

Works (ECoW); 

vi. Details of measures to safeguard badgers during works; 

vii. The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features  

(e.g. daylight working hours only starting one hour after sunrise and ceasing one hour 

before sunset);  

viii. Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs, including advanced 

installation and maintenance during the construction period; and  

ix. Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent person(s) during 

construction and immediately post-completion of construction works.  

The approved CEMP-B shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

amended), Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 187, 192 and 193 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework, Policy EN8 of  the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031, and 

section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

4. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations 

contained in sections 5.1.1 to 5.1.4, 5.1.6 and 5.2.2 of the Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment report revision 2 (Avondale Ecology, 

June 2025). All recommendations shall be implemented in full according to the 

specified timescales and thereafter permanently retained.  

 

Reason: To ensure wildlife is protected in accordance with the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 (as amended), Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 187, 192 and 193 the National 

Planning Policy Framework, Policy EN8 of the Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 

and in order for the Council to comply with Part 3 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

Page 106



5. A 30-year Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) shall be 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior to above 

ground works of the development hereby approved being undertaken. The plan shall 

include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following information:  

 

a) Description and evaluation of the features to be managed;  

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that may influence management;  

c) Aims, objectives and targets for management - links with local and national species 

and  habitat action plans;  

d) Description of the management operations necessary to achieving the aims and 

objectives;  

e) Prescriptions for management actions;  

f) Preparation of a works schedule, including annual works schedule;  

g) Details of the monitoring needed to measure the effectiveness of management;  

h) Details of the timetable for each element of the monitoring programme;  

i) Details of the persons responsible for the implementation and monitoring;  

j) Mechanisms of adaptive management to account for necessary changes within the 

work schedule to achieve the required targets; and  

k) Reporting on year 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 with biodiversity reconciliation 

calculations at each stage.  

 

6. The HMMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details, and 

all habitats shall be retained in that manner thereafter. Notice in writing shall be given 

to the Council when the habitat creation and enhancement works as set out in the 

Biodiversity Gain Plan have commenced and once all habitat creation and 

enhancements have been completed. 

  

Reason: To secure the delivery of at least a 10% biodiversity net gain through 

successful establishment and management of all newly created and enhanced habitats 

in accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

inserted by Schedule 14 of the  Environment Act 2021), paragraph 187, 192 and 193 

of the NPPF, and Local Plan policy EN8. 

 

7. No floodlighting or external lighting of any kind shall be installed or operated 

on the development hereby approved. 

 

Reason: To protect the character of the Cotswold National Landscape and avoid 

adverse impacts on biodiversity and the night-time environment, in accordance with 

EN2, EN4 and EN5 of the adopted Cotswold Local Plan. 

 

Page 107



8. Prior to the first use/occupation of the development hereby approved, a 

comprehensive landscape scheme shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  The scheme must show the location, size and condition of all existing trees 

and hedgerows on and adjoining the land and identify those to be retained, together 

with measures for their protection during construction work.  It must show details of 

all planting areas, tree and plant species, numbers and planting sizes. The proposed 

means of enclosure and screening should also be included, together with details of 

any mounding, walls and fences and hard surface materials to be used throughout the 

proposed development. 

 

Reason:  To ensure the development is completed in a manner that is sympathetic to 

the site and its surroundings in accordance with Cotswold District Local Plan Policy 

EN2. 

 

9. The entire landscaping scheme shall be completed by the end of the first 

planting season following the completion of the first building on the site. 

 

Reason:  To ensure that the landscaping is carried out and to enable the planting to 

begin to become established at the earliest stage practical and thereby achieving the 

objective of Cotswold District Local Plan Policy EN2. 

 

10. The outdoor arena hereby permitted shall be constructed at a finished ground 

level of 133.5 metres above Ordnance Datum, as identified on drawing reference DR-

A-080-003. The development shall thereafter be retained at this level thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to protect the character of 

the Cotswold National Landscape, in accordance with EN2, EN4 and EN5 of the 

adopted Cotswold Local Plan. 

 

Informatives: 

 

1. IMPORTANT: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN CONDITION - DEVELOPMENT 

CANNOT COMMENCE UNTIL A BIODIVERSITY GAIN PLAN HAS BEEN SUBMITTED 

(AS A CONDITION COMPLIANCE  APPLICATION) TO AND APPROVED BY 

COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL. 

 

The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed 

to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 

development may not begin unless: 

 

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 

(b) the planning authority has approved the plan in writing.  

Page 108



 

The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 

Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 

Cotswold District Council. There are statutory exemptions and transitional 

arrangements which mean that the biodiversity gain  condition does not always apply. 

Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 

require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 

none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply. 

If the onsite habitats include irreplaceable habitats (within the meaning of the 

Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitats) Regulations 2024) there are  

additional requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans. Advice 

about how to prepare a Biodiversity Gain Plan and a template can be found at  

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/submit-a-biodiversity-gain-plan 

 

The applicant will need apply to approve the details reserved by the 30-year Habitat 

Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) and the Biodiversity Gain Plan at the same 

time. A step-by-step guide on how to apply for approval of conditions can be found 

here:  

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-permission/step-by-

step-guide-to-planning-permission/ 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/submit-a-biodiversity-gain-plan
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-permission/step-by-step-guide-to-planning-permission/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-permission/step-by-step-guide-to-planning-permission/


This page is intentionally left blank



Talland House

Pond

Riding
School

Reed Filter Bed

Ampney
Ridings

Dr
ai

n

110.0m

110.4m

B 44
25

406900

407000

407100

407200

407300

204000 204000

204100 204100

204200 204200

204300 204300

204400 204400

406833204439

407377

204439

407377

© Crown copyright 2024 Ordnance Survey 100053143

Location Plan @ 1:2500 0m 50m 100m

1:2500

R
om

an
 R

oa
d

B4
42

5

131.7m

Pond

GP

406900

407000

407100

407200

407300

407400

203500 203500

203600 203600

203700 203700

203800 203800

203900 203900

406805

203466

407407

203466

SP0703SP0603

Roman Road

CHANNEL ARCHITECTURE LTD
Email:  Keelan@Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Website:  www.Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Mobile:  07703441179

The Talland School of Equitation
Ampney Knole, Cirencester 
Gloucestershire, GL7 5FD

Riding Arena

Location Plan 

Planning

As noted @A1 01/07/2024 KO

135 DR-A-080-001

DO NOT SCALE from this drawing (printed or electronic versions) other than for
planning purposes. Contractors must check all dimensions on site.

Discrepancies and / or ambiguities within this drawing, between it and
information given elsewhere, must be reported immediately for clarification prior
to proceeding with works on site.

All works are to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards
and Codes of Practice, unless specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or if issued in
electronic format, lies with the recipient to check that all information has been
replicated in full and is correct when compared to the original paper or electronic
image. Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been
co-ordinated, but are approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and
/ or details for actual sizes and / or specific contractor construction information.

This original document is issued for the purpose indicated below and contains
information of confidential nature.

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific
purposes connected with the project detailed below in the project title.

We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied
upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any
error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by
others.

P
age 111

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
DESCRIPTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
REV:

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
REVISION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
DRAWING NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
DRAWING TITLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
SITE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
STATUS:

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
PROJECT :



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reed Filter Bed

0m 5m 10m 15m 20m 25m 30m

1:500

A

A

B

B

Proposed 80m x 80m
riding arena

CHANNEL ARCHITECTURE LTD
Email:  Keelan@Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Website:  www.Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Mobile:  07703441179

The Talland School of Equitation
Ampney Knole, Cirencester 
Gloucestershire, GL7 5FD

Riding Arena

Proposed Site Plan 

Planning

As noted @A1 01/07/2024 KO

135 DR-A-080-003

DO NOT SCALE from this drawing (printed or electronic versions) other than for
planning purposes. Contractors must check all dimensions on site.

Discrepancies and / or ambiguities within this drawing, between it and
information given elsewhere, must be reported immediately for clarification prior
to proceeding with works on site.

All works are to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards
and Codes of Practice, unless specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or if issued in
electronic format, lies with the recipient to check that all information has been
replicated in full and is correct when compared to the original paper or electronic
image. Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been
co-ordinated, but are approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and
/ or details for actual sizes and / or specific contractor construction information.

This original document is issued for the purpose indicated below and contains
information of confidential nature.

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific
purposes connected with the project detailed below in the project title.

We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied
upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any
error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by
others.

Proposed site plan @ 1:500

Existing hedgerow

1.6m high post and rail fence
around riding arena

Green hatching denoting
proposed Neutral grassland

in good condition
As per BNG habitat plan

Proposed rural trees
As per BNG habitat plan

P
age 113

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
111.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
112.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
111.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
110.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
110.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
111.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
111.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
112.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
113.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
114.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
116.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
129.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
129.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
129.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
129.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
129.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
129.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
129.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
129.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
129.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
129.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
129.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
130.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
130.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
133.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
133.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
133.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
133.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
133.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
133.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
133.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
129.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
130.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
130.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
131.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
131.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
131.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
132.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
132.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
132.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
132.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
133.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
133.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
133.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
133.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
116.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
115.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
113.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
112.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
112.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
111.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
111.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
111.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
111.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
112.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
112.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
112.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
116.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
117.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
119.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
120.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
122.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
124.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
125.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
127.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
128.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
129.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
134.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
133.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
133.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
133.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
133.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
133.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
133.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
134.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
134.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
133.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
133.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
133.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
133.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
133.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
133.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
133.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
133.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
133.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
133.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
133.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
133.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
132.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
132.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
132.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
132.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
132.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
132.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
132.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
132.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
132.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
132.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
132.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
132.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
132.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
132.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
132.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
131.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
131.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
130.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
130.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
130.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
130.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
130.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
130.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
130.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
129.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
130.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
130.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
130.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
130.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
130.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
128.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
128.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
128.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
128.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
128.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
127.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
127.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
127.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
127.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
127.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
127.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
127.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
128.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
128.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
125.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
124.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
124.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
124.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
123.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
123.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
123.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
123.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
124.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
124.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
124.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
124.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
121.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
121.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
121.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
121.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
121.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
121.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
121.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
121.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
121.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
122.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
122.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
120.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
120.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
119.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
119.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
118.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
118.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
118.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
118.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
119.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
119.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
119.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
117.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
117.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
116.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
116.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
116.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
116.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
116.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
116.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
117.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
118.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
114.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
113.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
112.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
112.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
112.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
113.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
114.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
114.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
132.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
131.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
131.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
131.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
131.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
131.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
131.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
131.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
131.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
131.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
131.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
131.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
131.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
131.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
80m x 80m Arena Level 133.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
DESCRIPTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
REV:

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
REVISION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
DRAWING NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
DRAWING TITLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
SITE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
STATUS:

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
PROJECT :



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Section B-B @ 1:500

Datum = 100m

0m 5m 10m 15m 20m 25m 30m

1:500

Section A-A @ 1:500

Datum = 100m

Drainage stone

100mm Perforated pipe
100mm x 100mm
concreted in posts

Woven (porous)
Geotextile membrane
to allow drainage

150mm Clean angular
stone sub base

150mm Silica sand and
fibre mix surface
(uncompacted)

Rails

Posts

38mm x 100mm wide
retaining boards,
300mm above riding
surface

Non-woven binding membrane
below sand surface and
extended up inside of
gravel/retaining board,secured
by timber batten.

1:20

0.5m 1.0m 1.5m 2.0m0m

Typical arena construction @ 1:20

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

1:50

CHANNEL ARCHITECTURE LTD
Email:  Keelan@Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Website:  www.Channelarchitecture.co.uk
Mobile:  07703441179

The Talland School of Equitation
Ampney Knole, Cirencester 
Gloucestershire, GL7 5FD

Riding Arena

Sections 

Planning

As noted @A1 01/07/2024 KO

135 DR-A-080-004

DO NOT SCALE from this drawing (printed or electronic versions) other than for
planning purposes. Contractors must check all dimensions on site.

Discrepancies and / or ambiguities within this drawing, between it and
information given elsewhere, must be reported immediately for clarification prior
to proceeding with works on site.

All works are to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards
and Codes of Practice, unless specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or if issued in
electronic format, lies with the recipient to check that all information has been
replicated in full and is correct when compared to the original paper or electronic
image. Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been
co-ordinated, but are approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and
/ or details for actual sizes and / or specific contractor construction information.

This original document is issued for the purpose indicated below and contains
information of confidential nature.

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific
purposes connected with the project detailed below in the project title.

We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied
upon by any other party, or being used for any other purpose, or containing any
error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by
others.

Post and Rail Fence @ 1:50

Existing Ground level

Proposed Ground level

P
age 115

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
DESCRIPTION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
REV:

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
Notes:

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
REVISION:

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
DRAWING NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
CHECKED:

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
DRAWING TITLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
SITE:

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
STATUS:

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
PROJECT :



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	 Schedule of Applications
	8 25/02175/FUL - Thyme - Southrop Estate Office
	Appendix A - 25.02175.FUL - Conservation Comments
	Appendix B - 25.02175.FUL - Site Location Plan
	Appendix C - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Site Plan
	048_01_300_Proposed Site Plan
	Viewport-8


	Appendix D - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed 1st Floor Plan
	048_01_301_Proposed 1F Site Plan
	Viewport-14


	Appendix E  - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Roof Plan
	048_01_302_Proposed Roof Plan
	Viewport-10


	Appendix F - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Long Section
	048_02_300_Proposed Site Longitudinal Section
	1/048_03_313
	1/048_03_315


	Appendix G - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Site Cross Section
	048_02_301_Proposed Site Cross Section
	1/048_03_312
	1/048_03_326


	Appendix H - 25.02175.FUL - Appendix H - Proposed South Elevation Bedrooms
	048_03_300_Proposed Elevations Bedrooms South
	1/048_03_317


	Appendix I - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed North Elevation Bedrooms
	048_03_301_Proposed Elevations Bedrooms north
	1/048_03_321


	Appendix J - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Bedroooms East West
	048_03_302_Proposed Elevations Bedroooms East West
	1/048_03_308
	1/048_03_304
	1/048_03_305


	Appendix K - 25.02175.FUL -Proposed Elevations Spa
	048_03_306_Proposed Elevations Spa
	1/048_03_319
	1/048_03_323


	Appendix L - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Spa
	048_03_305_Proposed Elevations Spa
	1/048_03_316
	1/048_03_322


	Appendix M - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Wellbeing Studio
	048_03_303_Proposed Elevations Yoga Studio
	1/048_03_310
	1/048_03_318


	Appendix N - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Yoga Studio
	048_03_304_Proposed Elevations Yoga Studio
	1/048_03_324
	1/048_03_325


	Appendix O - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Relaxation Room
	048_03_307_Proposed Elevations Relaxation Room
	1/048_03_311


	Appendix P - 25.02175.FUL - Proposed Elevations Relaxation Room
	048_03_308_Proposed Elevations Relaxation Room
	1/048_03_314
	1/048_03_320



	9 25/02722/LBC - Thyme - Southrop Estate Office
	10 25/01951/FUL - Talland School of Equitation
	Appendix A - 25.01951.FUL - Site Location Plan
	Sheets and Views
	001 Location Plan A1


	Appendix B - 25.01951.FUL - Proposed Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	003 Proposed Site A1


	Appendix C - 25.01951.FUL - Sections
	Sheets and Views
	004 Sections A1






